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Competent Person’s Statements
The information in this report that relates to the Yarlarweelor, Horseshoe and Callies North Mineral Reserve is
based on information compiled by Mr Steve Craig, who is a Member the Australasian Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. Mr Craig is an Independent Consultant to RNI and the Managing Director of Orelogy Pty Ltd and has
sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and types of deposit under consideration and
to the activities undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the Australasian
Code of Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Craig consents to the inclusion in the report of the
matters based on information in the form and context in which it appears.
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results and Mineral Resources is based on information
compiled by Mr Albert Thamm, who is a Fellow and Chartered Professional of the Australasian Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy. Mr Thamm is a  Director of Resource and Investment NL and has sufficient experience which is
relevant to the style of mineralisation and types of deposit under consideration and to the activities undertaken to
qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the Australasian Code of Reporting of Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Thamm consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on
information in the form and context in which it appears.
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This transformation began in March 2012 when the
Company finalised the acquisition of the Grosvenor Gold
Project (formerly the Fortnum Gold Project) from
BlueCrest Mercantile Master Fund for a consideration
of $35 million in cash and RNI securities.
The acquisition has led to a significant increase in the
scale and scope of the Company’s activities.
The Grosvenor deal has delivered RNI a suite of assets
which will enable the Company to emerge as a gold
miner in 2013, while also expanding its exploration
footprint in Western Australia’s highly prospective Bryah
Basin region, north of Meekatharra.
RNI now has a clear strategy for growth which focuses
on recommissioning the 1Mtpa nameplate Grosvenor
gold plant while advancing exploration programs on
priority gold and base metals targets across the
Company’s expanded 2,225km2 licence holding.
The Grosvenor deal also delivered RNI a JORC
compliant near-mine gold inventory of 1.2Moz. From
this, the Company has already declared probable
maiden reserves of 299,700 ounces (based on 4.87Mt @
1.91g/t) from the Yarlarweelor, Horseshoe and Callies
open pits.

Already, the agreement negotiated with Montezuma
Mining Company in September 2012 to acquire the
historic Peak Hill Gold Project (which remains subject
to various conditions and approvals) has given RNI the
option to acquire a further 547,000oz, giving a combined
gold inventory of more than 1.7Moz.
In parallel with the ongoing gold plant refurbishment
program, significant progress has also been made in
recent months refining priority drilling targets across
the Company’s vast and strategic Bryah Basin footprint.
In October 2012, RNI launched the first of three new
drilling programs at the Cashman’s North group of
tenements, which are considered prospective for both
gold and base metals.
Drilling programs will follow at the Horseshoe Lights
East Project (where RNI is earning a 51% interest) and
the Jacques gold prospect at Morck’s Well.
This increase in activity has also seen the RNI board
move to strengthen its management, geological and
financial teams during 2012 with several key
appointments, including Technical Director Albert
Thamm, Project Manager (Grosvenor Gold Plant)
Danielle Gunnell and Chief Financial Officer Debbie
Fullarton.
I would like to thank the entire RNI team for their
valuable contributions this year as we have put in place
the building blocks for what is a very exciting future for
your Company.

These three deposits – along with ore from the Toms
open pit – are scheduled to provide the initial sources of
ore for the recommissioned Grosvenor gold plant next
year. These reserves should be sufficient to support an
initial 4-5 year mine life at a scheduled production rate
of approximately 50,000 ounces per annum.
The RNI board believes the recommissioning of the
Grosvenor gold plant could also unlock stranded gold
deposits in the Bryah Basin area, providing
opportunities for RNI to increase its gold resources at
a time when many predict continued strength in the
international gold price.

MILES KENNEDY
Chairman
16 October 2012
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION
THE SCALE AND SCOPE OF RESOURCE AND INVESTMENT NL’S OPERATIONS
INCREASED SIGNIFICANTLY FOLLOWING THE ACQUISITION OF THE GROSVENOR
GOLD PROJECT IN MARCH 2012.
RNI ACQUIRED 100% OWNERSHIP OF THE GROSVENOR GOLD PROJECT FROM
BLUECREST MERCANTILE MASTER FUND FOR A CONSIDERATION OF $35 MILLION
IN CASH AND RNI SECURITIES.
The acquisition delivered RNI a suite of assets including the 1Mtpa nameplate
Grosvenor gold plant (formerly the Fortnum gold plant) and supporting infrastructure,
along with JORC compliant gold resources totalling 1.2Moz (based on 16.6Mt @ 2.2g/t).
The Grosvenor gold plant is located about 170km north-west of Meekatharra in
Western Australia.

HORSESHOE
LIGHTS EAST
PROJECT

WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

MEEKATHARRA

GROSVENOR
PROJECT

When combined with the Company’s existing exploration properties, the Grosvenor
acquisition expanded RNI’s tenement holding to approximately 2,225km2, giving the
company a dominant position in the Bryah Basin region, which is considered highly
prospective for gold and base metals.
Since the Grosvenor acquisition, RNI has been progressing a strategy of refurbishing
the Grosvenor gold plant, while continuing to prioritise drilling and exploration targets
across the Company’s expanded Bryah Basin tenement holding.
RNI believes the recommissioned Grosvenor gold plant could unlock stranded gold
deposits in the region, thus providing opportunities for the Company to expand its
resource inventory.

PERTH

To this effect, RNI has negotiated an option (subject to various conditions and
approvals) over the Peak Hill Gold Project which, if exercised, would increase the
Company’s resource base to more than 1.7Moz. The Peak Hill Gold Project adjoins
leases within RNI’s Grosvenor project.
Since settling on the Grosvenor transaction in March 2012, RNI has further expanded
its Bryah Basin exploration portfolio with an agreement to earn a 51% interest in the
Horseshoe Lights East Project, immediately east of the historic Horseshoe Lights
copper-gold project.

FIGURE 1 PROJECT LOCATIONS
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GOLD PRODUCTION STRATEGY
RNI is refurbishing the Grosvenor
gold plant as part of a plan to
resume gold production in 2013 at
the rate of approximately 50,000
ounces per annum. This
refurbishment process remains on
schedule.
The Grosvenor gold plant has a
nameplate capacity of 1Mtpa. It has
been on care and maintenance
since 2007 and was in good
condition when acquired by RNI.
The supporting infrastructure
includes haul roads, an airstrip,
100+ person accommodation
village, tailings dam, bore field and
a site store and workshop.
The refurbishment program is
being overseen by Project Manager
Danielle Gunnell, who was
previously the Planning and
Engineering Superintendent for
Barrick Gold Corp’s Lumwana
Copper Mine in Zambia.

An assessment of the geological
resources at the Yarlarweelor,
Horseshoe and Callies open pits
produced probable gold reserves of
299,700 ounces, based on 4.87Mt @
1.91g/t.
While ore from these three
deposits, and the Toms open pit,
should support an initial 4-5 year
mine life, high-grade gold
mineralisation intersected beneath
the Eldorado open pit could provide
a supplementary source of oxide
ore for the Grosvenor gold plant
early in its production profile.
To date, progress with the
permitting and refurbishment
process for the Grosvenor gold
plant includes:
The refurbishment contractor (Zell
Pty Ltd) ordering and fabricating
long lead items. The contractor is
on-site and refurbishment works
are well underway, particularly to
the crusher and ore feeder parts of

the processing circuit. The apron
feeder and primary crusher have been
overhauled and the new secondary
crusher is on site awaiting installation.
The SAG and ball mill have undergone
thorough inspection and repaired as
required. New mill liners have been
ordered with delivery imminent. All
leach and absorption tanks have been
pressure cleaned and assessed. The
Gekko inline leach reactor and new
Knelson concentrator have arrived on
site. Electrical components required
to be replaced or upgraded have been
ordered and delivered.
The multi-disciplinary project team is
progressing regulatory approvals with
a primary focus on the Mining
Proposal and Works Approvals. The
application to re-state the 1.5Gl (Giga
litre) project water licence has been
submitted and has undergone
compulsory notice for public
comments. None was received.

•

In addition to the prior approval of
a processing Project Management
Plan (PMP) to allow the
commencement of the process
plant refurbishment, dangerous
goods licences for LPG and diesel
have been received.

•

The hosting of an on-site open day
and closure stakeholder
consultation. A closure risk
assessment was undertaken and
presented to stakeholders with the
intent that the information forms
part of the closure plan.

•

The submission of a Works
Approval for the uplift of current
tails dams has been made. The
design of new life of mine tails
dams and associated
infrastructure has been completed.
In addition, scoping studies have
been initiated to determine the
feasibility of an in-pit tailings
facility. A civil engineering scope
of works for a new creek diversion
has been completed.

•

The continuance of required
studies to allow the progressive
submission of Works Approvals
and Mining Proposal.

•

The finalisation of mine scheduling
in conjunction with the completion
of a mining contract tender
process. The results are being
evaluated and discussions
commenced with relevant parties.

RECOMMISSIONING OF THE GROSVENOR GOLD PLANT
INSET: GEKKO INLINE LEACH REACTOR BEING INSTALLED AT THE
GROSVENOR GOLD PLANT

4

| RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL | 2012 ANNUAL REPORT

5

| RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL | 2012 ANNUAL REPORT

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

EXPLORATION
In tandem with its gold plant
refurbishment program, RNI has
continued to advance exploration
programs for gold and base metals
across its 2,225km2 Bryah Basin
tenement holding.
The extensive geological and
exploration database acquired
by RNI as part of the Grosvenor
transaction has been of great
assistance to the Company’s
geological team in prioritising
these exploration programs.
RNI has completed geochemical
sampling over approximately 256km2
of its overall 2,225km2 tenement
holding as part of a systematic
approach to generating drilling
targets for gold and base metals.
In September 2012, RNI
announced plans for three new
drilling programs at Cashman’s
North, Horseshoe Lights East
and Jacques.
The Company’s pipeline of
advanced exploration targets has
also been expanded, including the
Orient prospect where surface
sampling revealed high grade
assays of up to 12.8% copper
and 41.7% gold.

6

During the year, RNI conducted
drilling programs (brownfields and
greenfields) at the Eldorado, Toms
and Horseshoe open pits, along
with Doolgunna, Billara and at
Mining Lease M52/132 near the
Grosvenor gold plant.
The highlights from these drilling
programs include high-grade
gold results from Horseshoe
and Eldorado.
At Eldorado, which is located
within 400 metres of the Grosvenor
plant, drilling beneath the open
pit ramp intersected high grade
gold mineralisation of up to 8.7g/t,
which, as previously mentioned,
could provide a supplementary
source of mill feed for the
recommissioned Grosvenor
gold plant.
RNI drilled two vertical holes to
a depth of 54m at the base of the
Eldorado pit ramp on its western
wall. Assays from EDRC1
produced 1m @ 8.7g/t from 9m
below collar, 1m @ 7.2g/t from
17m, 1m @ 7.2g/t from 19m and
1m @ 5.5g/t from 15m.
EDRC2 produced 1m @ 5.8g/t from
24m, 1m @ 4.99g/t from 31m and
1m @ 4.2g/t from 35m.
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These two holes were drilled to
verify the results of previous grade
control drilling at Eldorado which
returned intersections including
14m @ 3.88g/t from 7m below
collar, including 1m @ 29.4g/t.

118°00’E

119°00’E

HORSESHOE
LIGHTS EAST

RNI believes these results
warrant further delineation and
definition drilling.

Plutonic

Grosvenor
Horseshoe
Lights

Drilling results from Horseshoe
included 3m @ 10.54g/t from
HRC006 from 138m.

De Grussa

The new priority targets generated
by the Company include the Orient
prospect at Cashman’s North,
where high grade assay results of
up to 12.8% copper and 41.7g/t gold
were recovered from outcropping
ironstone gossans.

Peak Hill

Durack

Significantly, the surface sampling
at Orient also returned elevated
levels of lead and zinc.
RNI has commissioned Omni-Geox
consultancy to evaluate the
exploration results from
Doolgunna, which is located within
4km of Sandfire Resources’
DeGrussa copper-gold deposits.
The most recent results from 17 RC
holes drilled on targets at
Doolgunna included elevated levels
of sulphur and anomalous silver,
which may indicate base metal
mineralisation in close proximity
and thus warrant follow up.
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FIGURE 2 LOCATION OF
NEW DRILLING
PROGRAMS AT RNI’S
GROSVENOR PROJECT
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The 32 hole drilling program will
target EM conductor targets defined
by moving loop electromagnetic
(MLEM) and helicopter versatile
time electromagnetic (VTEM)
surveys and surface geochemistry.
Four of the holes will be funded
from the WA Government’s
Royalties for Regions program.

In October 2012, RNI commenced
a 32 hole RC drilling program
at Cashman’s North, which is
considered prospective for both
epigenetic lode gold and base
metals deposits.

655 000mE

The EM targets to be drilled are
near the Telegraph and Norfolk
gold prospects at Cashman’s
North which were previously
defined through regional surface
gold geochemistry programs. It is
envisaged that the Telegraph and
Norfolk gold prospects will be
drilled at a later stage. The Orient
prospect is also located within
Cashman’s North.

665 000mE

675 000mE

HORSESHOE LIGHTS EAST
DRILLING PROGRAM
In August 2012, RNI reached
agreement to earn a 51% interest in
the Horseshoe Lights East Project,
located immediately east of the
historic Horseshoe Lights coppergold project owned by Horseshoe
Metals Ltd.

Subsequent to that agreement,
RNI has received final heritage
clearances to drill eight RC holes
(1,200m) at Horseshoe Lights East
targeting EM conductors defined
below the overlying Bangemall
Group sediments.
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FIGURE 3 EM DRILLING
TARGETS AT CASHMAN’S
NORTH AND LOCATION
OF ORIENT PROSPECT
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GOLD/BASE METALS PROSPECT
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1KM

FIGURE 4 EM DRILLING
TARGETS AT HORSESHOE
LIGHTS EAST
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RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL

| 2012 ANNUAL REPORT | 9

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

JACQUES DRILLING PROGRAM
RNI has submitted a program of
work for an RC drilling program of
up to 200 holes at the Jacques gold
prospect. Heritage surveys for this
drilling program were completed in
mid October.

Jacques is the most advanced of
several epigenetic gold targets
identified within the Morck’s Well
Project area, with others including
Cascade, Frenchy’s and Jolly Frog.

282km2 which adjoin Sandfire
Resources’ Doolgunna Project.
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd, which is
a subsidiary of ASX-listed Fe Ltd,
has a 20% interest in Jacques.

Formerly known as Doolgunna 2,
Morck’s Well is a group of three
tenements covering approximately

Grab samples from the quartz veins
at Jacques have returned assays of
up to 299g/t.

700 000mE
700 000mE

710 000mE
710 000mE

MONTEZUMA OPTION
AGREEMENT
In September 2012, RNI reached
agreement with Montezuma Mining
Company Limited for an option to
acquire control of the historic Peak
Hill Gold Project, approximately
125km north of Meekatharra in
Western Australia.

720 000mE
720 000mE

Peak Hill comprises mining leases
and prospecting and exploration
licences covering a total of 211km2
which contain JORC compliant gold
resources of more than 560,000
ounces in a series of historic open
pits (based on 11.52Mt @ 1.51g/t).

118°00’E

The option, which is subject to various
conditions and approvals, gives RNI
the right to acquire wholly owned
Montezuma subsidiary Peak Hill Metals
Pty Ltd. Approximately 547,000oz of
the Peak Hill gold inventory is
attributable to Peak Hill Metals. This
gives a combined gold inventory of
more than 1.7 million ounces.
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TABLE OF RESOURCES

SCHEDULE OF MINING TENEMENTS
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2012

ANNEXURE A: GROSVENOR GOLD PROJECT RESOURCES
Mineral Resources as at 30 September, 2012

Tenement Number

Tonnes (kt) Grade (g/t) Tonnes (kt) Grade (g/t) Tonnes (kt) Grade (g/t) Au Ounces
Project
Cut-off (g/t)
Indicated
Inferred
Total
Yarlarweelor
0.7
4,333
2
1,216
1.87
5,549
1.9
338,900
Starlight
1
1,558
3
924
3.4
2,482
3.2
255,300
Starlight
1
145
4.3
503
2.9
648
3.2
66,700
Hanging Wall
Twilight
1
1,138
2.7
316
2.6
1,454
2.7
126,200
Ricks
1
232
1.9
63
2.1
295
2
18,900
Midnight
1
229
2.3
124
2.7
353
2.4
27,300
Dougies
1
99
3.1
123
2.9
222
3
21,400
Eldorado
0.6
386
1.4
386
1.4
17,300
Toms & Sams
1
780
1.9
780
1.9
47,700
Horseshoe
1
2,063
2.13
290
2.35
2,353
2.15
162,900
Nathans
0.75
1,081
1.9
1,081
1.9
66,000
Callies
1
634.4
1.77
58
1.5
692.4
1.74
38,800
Regent
0.6
328
1.4
328
1.4
14,700
TOTAL
10,431
6,192
16,623
2.2
1,202,100

INDICATED
TOTAL INDICATED
INFERRED

Oxide
Transitional
Fresh

TOTAL INFERRED
SUBTOTAL

E51/1033
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53bk

1,2

PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 40%
Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

22/09/2005

35bk

E51/1060

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%

20/07/2005

1bk

1

Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%
E51/1085

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

22/09/2005

17bk

E51/1120

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

10/08/2006

70bk

E51/1134

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

15/11/2006

4bk

E52/1613

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 40%

29/03/2006

30bk

1,2

23/02/2004

8bk

1

27/01/2004

13bk

1

23/11/2004

9bk

1,2

23/11/2004

61bk

1

22/09/2005

35bk

1,2

1bk

Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%
PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 40%
E52/1655

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

E52/1659

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

E52/1670

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 40%
PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 40%

Tonnes (t)
1,270,000
2,940,000
4,960,000
9,170,000
160,000
80,000
1,510,000
1,750,000
10,920,000

Au (g/t)
1.24
1.35
1.58
1.46
1
1.12
1.57
1.5
1.47

Ounces (Oz)
50,000
128,000
252,000
430,000
5,000
3,000
76,000
84,000
514,000

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

E52/1672

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 40%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%
PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 40%

E52/1817

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

13/10/2008

E52/1818

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

14/04/2005

2bk

E52/1832

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

16/03/2009

19bk

E52/1846

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

02/11/2010

66bk

E52/1910

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 50%

10/08/2006

67bk

2

PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 50%
E52/1951

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

26/02/2007

29bk

E52/1964

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 50%

01/11/2007

18bk

2

PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 50%

Tonnes (t)
100,000
505,000
605,000

Au (g/t)
1.95
2.49
2.41

Ounces (oz)
6,300
40,500
46,800

Tonnes (t)
9,270,000
2,255,000
11,525,000

Au (g/t)
1.46
1.72
1.51

Ounces (Oz)
436,000
125,000
561,000

Note: Grade, tonnage and ounces have been rounded and may result in computational discrepancies in the above
table.
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22/09/2005

E51/1053

E52/1671

Combined Global Mineral Resources Estimated for the Peak Hill Project
Classification
INDICATED
INFERRED
TOTAL

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 40%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

Jubilee Deposit Mineral Resources at 1.0 g/t cut-off
Classification
INDICATED
INFERRED
SUBTOTAL

Notes

Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

Mineral Resources at 0.8 g/t cut off Harmony, Enigma, Durack and Main Pit-Five Ways
Material
Oxide
Transitional
Fresh

Date Granted

Grosvenor Gold Project

ANNEXURE B: PEAK HILL PROJECT RESOURCES
Classification

Registered Holder

Area Graticular
blocks (bk) /
Hectares (ha)

E52/2059

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

17/02//2010

2bk

L52/102

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

11/11/2008

9.00ha

M52/5

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

20/04/1983

464.85ha

M52/6

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

20/04/1983

479.60ha

M52/93

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/02/1988

772.00ha

M52/95

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/02/1988

649.30ha

M52/96

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/02/1988

682.70ha

M52/98

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/02/1988

910.60ha

M52/99

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/02/1988

486.15ha

M52/125

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

30/12/1988

338.00ha

M52/132

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

11/05/1989

698.20ha

M52/133

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

11/05/1989

879.70ha

M52/338

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

28/10/1992

684.35ha

P52/1114

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

48.00ha

P52/1147

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

130.00ha

P52/1148

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

168.00ha

P52/1149

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

160.00ha

RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL
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SCHEDULE OF MINING TENEMENTS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Date Granted

Area Graticular
blocks (bk) /
Hectares (ha)

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

180.00ha

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

200.00ha

P52/1152

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1153

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1154

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1155

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

124.00ha

P52/1156

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

160.00ha

P52/1157

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1158

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1159

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

190.00ha

P52/1160

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

133.00ha

P52/1161

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

198.00ha

P52/1162

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

198.00ha

P52/1163

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

193.00ha

P52/1164

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

171.00ha

Tenement Number

Registered Holder

P52/1150
P52/1151

Notes

P52/1165

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

03/01/2007

156.00ha

P52/1169

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%

03/01/2007

56.00ha

1

03/01/2007

193.00ha

1

03/01/2007

175.00ha

1

03/01/2007

178.00ha

1

08/01/2009

192.00ha

1

112.00ha

Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%
P52/1170

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

P52/1171

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

P52/1172

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

P52/1194

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd 80%
Jackson Minerals Pty Ltd 20%

P52/1197

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

P52/1198

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

96.00ha

P52/1201

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

128.00ha

P52/1202

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

144.00ha

P52/1214

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd

08/01/2009

74.00ha

E52/2124

IMIC Pty Ltd

19/09/2008

25bk

3

E52/2562

IMIC Pty Ltd

24/12/2010

28bk

3

Ascidian Prospecting Pty Ltd

11/02/2010

7bk

3

16/06/2010

80bk

•

appointing, removing and
setting succession policies for
the managing director, directors
and seniors executives;

•

establishing and monitoring the
achievement of management’s
goals;

•

encouraging ethical behaviour
throughout the organisation.

The specific aspects that support
the implementation of this approach
are described below in accordance
with the ASX Recommendations.

Delegation

Details of the main policies of
corporate governance adopted by
the Company and referred to in its
statements are available on the
Resource and Investment NL
website at www.rninl.com.au.

PRINCIPLE 1
Lay Solid Foundations for
Management and Oversight
The Board operates in accordance
with the broad principles set out in
its charter which can be
downloaded from the corporate
governance section of the
Company’s website.
Role

Three Rivers Project

Doolgunna Project
E52/2438

The Board is committed to following
the ASX Corporate Governance
Council Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations
(ASX Recommendations) and the
Board and Management regularly
review the Company’s policies and
practices to ensure that the
Company continues to maintain and
improve its governance standards.

The Board is responsible of the
overall operation and stewardship
of the Company. The Board’s
specific responsibilities include:
•

input into and approval of the
strategic direction of the
Company;

•

approving and monitoring
capital expenditure;

•

 onitoring of financial
m
performance including
reviewing and ratifying the
systems in place that manage
the material risks to the
Company;

Fortnum West Project
E52/2568

Resource and Investment NL

Notes:
Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (GG) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Resource and Investment NL.
1.	Jackson Iron Ore JV Agreement – GG 40%; PepinNini Minerals (PNM) 40%; Jackson Minerals Ltd 20% (GG beneficial interest
40% to iron ore and 80% to all other minerals).
2.	Robinson Range JV Agreement – GG 50%; PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd 50% (GG 50% beneficial interest to iron ore and
100% interest to all other minerals).
3. Option to purchase.
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Clause 6 of the Board Charter sets
out the Board’s delegation of the
responsibility to allow senior
management being the chief
financial officer and the general
manager operations, to carry out
day-to-day operations and
administration of the Company. In
carrying out this delegation, senior
management reports regularly to
the Board on the Company’s
progress on achieving the short,
medium and long term plans of the
Company. Senior management is
accountable to the Board for the
authority that is delegated by the
Board.
The Board Charter supports all
delegations of responsibility by
formally defining the specific
functions reserved for the Board of
Committees, and those matters
delegated to management.
Performance Review of Senior
Executives
In accordance with the clause 5.5 of
its Charter, each year the Board
approves the criteria for assessing
the performance of senior
management.
In addition, performance reviews of
the senior management are
conducted regularly during the year
by the full Board. The performance
of senior management is reviewed
by comparing performance against
agreed measures, examining the

effectiveness and quality of the
individual, assessing key
contributions, identifying areas of
potential improvement and
assessing whether various
expectations of shareholders have
been met.
Further details of how the Company
assesses the performance of senior
management are set out in the
Remuneration Report of the Annual
Report.

PRINCIPLE 2
Structure the Board to Add Value
Board Composition
The Board strives to ensure that it is
comprised of strongly performing
individuals of the utmost integrity
whose complementary skills,
experience, qualifications and
personal characteristics are suited
to the Company’s needs.
The Company’s Constitution
provides for a minimum of three
and a maximum of ten directors.
At the commencement of the 2012
financial year, the Board comprised
three directors. In December 2011
an additional director joined the
Board. A profile of each director,
including their skills, experience,
relevant expertise, special
responsibilities and the date each
director was appointed to the Board
of the Company is set out in the
Directors’ Report of the Annual
Report.
Independence
At present the Board does not
comprise a majority of independent
directors. The Board defines
‘independence’ in accordance with
the ASX Recommendations.

RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

In order to ensure that any
‘interests’ of a director in a matter
to be considered by the Board are
known by each director, each
director had contracted with the
Company to disclose any
relationships, duties or interests
held that may give rise to a potential
conflict. Directors are required to
adhere strictly to constraints on
their participation and voting in
relation to any matters in which
they may have an interest. Each
director is required by the Company
to declare on an annual basis the
details of any financial or other
relevant interests that they may
have in the Company.
The Chairman
Our Chairman is an executive
director. The Chairman is
responsible for the leadership of the
Board and to ensure that the Board
functions effectively.
The Nomination and Remuneration
Committee
The full Board of the Company
carries out the duties of the
Nomination and Remuneration
Committee.
Selection and Appointment of
Directors
The full Board considers and
identifies candidates who may be
qualified to become directors. The
nomination of all new directors is
considered by the full Board. The
Board assesses the nominees
against a range of specific criteria
including their experience,
professional skills, potential
conflicts of interest and the
requirement for independence. All
new appointments to the Board are
subject to shareholder approval.

16

Retirement and Re-election of
Directors
The Company’s constitution
requires one-third of the directors
(rounded down to the next lowest
number) to retire by rotation at each
general meeting (AGM). In selecting
the directors to retire the Board has
regard to a number of factors
including the optimal composition
of the Board having regard to the
on-going needs of the Company, the
skills and experience of the
directors, their potential conflict of
interests, and the length of time the
director has held office.
A director must retire in any event
at the third AGM since he or she
was last elected or re-elected.
Retiring directors may offer
themselves for re-election. The
Managing Director is not subject to
retirement by rotation and is not to
be taken into account in
determining the number of
directors required retiring by
rotation.
Director Induction and Education
The Company has a process to
educate new directors about the
nature of the business, current
issues, the corporate strategy and
the expectations of the Company
concerning the performance of the
directors. Directors are given
access to continuing education
opportunities to update and
enhance their skills and knowledge.
It is the practice of directors to visit
the Company’s projects and meet
with management to gain a better
understanding of the business on a
regular basis.
New directors also receive a letter
of appointment which outlines their
main responsibilities and provides
new directors with a broad range of
information about the Company.
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Independent Professional Advice
and Access to Company
Information
Directors have a right of access to
all relevant Company information
and, subject to prior consultation
with the Chairman, may seek
independent advice from suitably
qualified advisors at the Company’s
expense.

PRINCIPLE 3

Diversity

Promote Ethical and Responsible
Decision-Making

The Board is committed to having
an appropriate blend of diversity on
the Board and in all areas of the
Group’s business. The Board has
established a policy regarding
gender, age, ethnic and cultural
diversity.

The criterion for the evaluation of
each director is their contribution to
specific Board objectives, including
the following:

The Board acknowledges the need
for continued maintenance of a
professional standard of a corporate
governance practice and ethical
conduct by all directors and
employees of the Company. The
Board and the Company’s
employees are expected to uphold
the highest levels of integrity and
professional behaviour in their
relationships with all of the
Company’s stakeholders.

•

setting corporate strategies;

Code of Conduct

•

identification, analysis and
responses to risks and issues;

•

monitoring of the Company’s
progress against its business
objectives;

•

understanding and analysing of
the Board papers presented by
management;

•

use of industry, financial and
broad knowledge to add value to
the deliberations of the Board.

The code describes standards for
appropriate ethical and professional
behaviour for all directors,
employees and contractors working
for the Company. The Code of
Conduct requires all directors,
employees and contractors to
conduct business with the highest
ethical standards including
compliance with the law and to
report any interest that may give
rise to a conflict of interest.
Breaches of the Code of Conduct
are taken seriously by the Company.
The Code of Conduct is made
available to all employees.

Evaluating Board Performance

Board Committees
The Board considers that the
Company is not currently of a size,
nor are its affairs of such complexity
to justify the formation of separate
or special committees at this time.
The Board as a whole is able to
address the governance aspects of
the full scope of the Company’s
activities and to ensure that it
adherers to appropriate ethical
standards. The full Board currently
holds meetings at such times as
may be necessary to address any
general or specific matters as
required. When the Company’s
activities increase in size, scope and
nature, the appointment of separate
or special committees will be
reviewed by the Board and
implemented if appropriate.

Values
The Company has also
implemented a set of values
designed as a guide by the directors
and all employees in their day-today dealings with each other,
competitors, customers and the
community. The values established
are summarised under the
headings Respect, Integrity, Action
and Results.

The Company and all its related
bodies corporate are committed to
workplace diversity.
The Company recognises the
benefits arising from employee and
Board diversity, including a broader
pool of high quality employees,
improving employee retention,
accessing different perspectives
and ideas and benefiting from all
available talent.
Diversity includes, but is not limited
to, gender, age, ethnicity and
cultural background.
To the extent practicable, the
Company will address the
recommendations and guidance
provided in the ASX Corporate
Governance Council’s Principles
and Recommendations.
The Diversity Policy does not
impose on the Company, its
directors, officers, agents or
employee any obligation to engage
in, or justification for engaging in,
any conduct which is illegal or
contrary to any anti-discrimination
or equal employment opportunity
legislation or laws in any State or
Territory of Australia or of any
foreign jurisdiction.
Trading in the Company’s Shares
To safeguard against insider trading
the Company’s Securities Trading
policy prohibits directors and
employees from trading the
Company’s securities if they are
aware of any information that would
be expected to have a material
effect on the price of the Company’s
securities.

Directors must consult with the
Chairman of the Board, or in his
absence or conflict, the Deputy
Chairman, before dealing in shares
or other securities of the Company.
Dealings (whether purchases or
sales) in the Company’s shares or
other securities by related
personnel may not be carried out
other than in the dealing “window”,
being the period commencing 2
days prior to and ending 2 days
following the date of announcement
of the Company annual or half
yearly results or a major
announcement leading to a fully
informed market.
“Major” is defined as an
announcement that may as a direct
result, affect the share price, or an
announcement affecting the
operations of the Company. If within
that period any further
announcement arises that may
separately affect the share price,
the Chairman or in his absence the
Deputy may impose a lock-down
period on the ability to trade.
All related persons must give
details of any acquisitions or
disposal of shares or other
securities in the Company, within
one business day to the Company
Secretary of the Company.
All related persons must ensure
that they at all times observe the
insider trading rules of the
Corporations Act.
The Company discloses to ASX any
transaction conducted by the
directors in the Company’s
securities in accordance with the
ASX Listing Rules.
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PRINCIPLE 4

PRINCIPLE 6

Safeguard Integrity in Financial
Reporting

Respect the Right of Shareholders

The full Board forms the Company’s
Audit Committee. The Board
acknowledges that it does not at
this stage comply with ASX
recommendation 4.1 but is
reviewing this recommendation
having regard to the changes in the
Company’s operations.

PRINCIPLE 5
Make Timely Balanced Disclosure
The Company is committed to
providing relevant up-to-date
information to its shareholders and
the broader investment community
in accordance with the continuous
disclosure requirements under the
ASX Listing Rules and the
Corporations Act.
The Board has authorised the
Company Secretary as the
Disclosure Officer, to ensure that
information is released by the
Company in a timely and accurate
fashion.

The Board aims to ensure that
shareholders are informed of all
information necessary to assess the
performance of the Company. The
Shareholder Communication Policy
outlines the process through which
the Company will endeavour to
ensure timely and accurate
information is provided equally to all
shareholders.
Information is communicated to
Shareholders through:
•

•

•

To supplement the Continuous
Disclosure Policy the Board has
also approved Disclosure Protocols
and Procedures to provide further
guidance to staff on understanding
and complying with the Company’s
continuous disclosure obligations.
•

 he annual report which is
T
available to all shareholders (in
both hardcopy and electronic
form);
The release to the ASX and on
the Company’s website, of the
half yearly financial report,
quarterly production and
activities report and other
information, including ASX
releases in accordance with the
Company’s continuous
disclosure obligations;
Providing information on the
Company’s website about the
Company, including the
Charters that govern the Board
and Board Committees, the
Company’s key policies,
statutory reports of the last 2
years and releases to the ASX;
The release to ASX and the
Company’s website of all
Company presentations made
during briefings conducted with
analysts and institutions from
time to time.

Shareholders are also encouraged
to attend the AGM and use the
opportunity to ask questions.
Questions can be lodged prior to the
meeting by completing the relevant
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form accompanying the notice of
meeting. The Company makes every
endeavour to respond to the most
commonly asked questions. The
external auditor attends the
meeting and is available to answer
questions in relation to the conduct
of audit.

PRINCIPLE 7
Recognise and Manage Risk
The Company is exposed to
numerous risks across its business,
most of which are common to the
resources industry. The Company’s
commitment and approach to
managing these risks is outlined in
the Company’s Risk Management
Policy and is on the Company’s
website.
The Board receives reporting on the
control mechanisms which are
designed and implemented by
management to ensure that the
safety, environment, legal and
reputation risks faced by the
Company are identified, assessed
and managed.
The Board also reviews and
assesses the adequacy of the
Company’s internal control and
financial management systems and
accounting and business policies.
The Board is given further
assurance on the Company’s
financial management systems
through the Company’s independent
internal audit function.
Senior management are
responsible for risk management in
their respective areas of
accountability. They ensure that
procedures exist to monitor risks
and, through observation and audit,
gain assurance that affective
controls are implemented and
consistently applied.

The Board has recognised the need
to implement a common risk
management framework across the
group. The Company is in the
process of developing this
framework. This process includes
the implementation at all sites of
the Company’s Sustainability
Standards. These are
comprehensive sets of standards
that provide a systematic approach
to the management of Safety,
Health, Environment and
Community related risks.
Management Reporting and
Certifications
Management reports to the Board
on the material business risks faced
by the Company, the effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management
and internal control system, and the
Company’s management of its
material business risks.
The Technical Director and Chief
Financial Officer have declared in
writing to the Board that the
financial records of the Company
have been properly maintained and
present a true and fair view of the
Company’s financial position and
financial results, in accordance with
the Corporations Act and the
relevant accounting standards.

PRINCIPLE 8
Remunerate Fairly and
Responsibly
The Board provides
recommendations and directions
for the Company’s remuneration
practices. The Board, as the
Remuneration Committee, ensures
that a significant proportion of each
Senior Manager’s Remuneration is
linked to his or her performance
and the Company’s performance.
Performance reviews are conducted
regularly to assess the performance
of Senior Managers and to
determine the proportion of
remuneration that will be ‘at risk’
for the upcoming year. For further
details on this see Remuneration
Report within the Annual Report.
Board Remuneration
The total annual remuneration paid
to non-executive directors may not
exceed the limit set by the
shareholders at an AGM. The
remuneration of the non-executive
directors is fixed rather than
variable.

The reporting and control
mechanisms support the written
certifications given by the Technical
Director and Chief Financial Officer
to the Board annually, that the
Company’s financial reports are
based on a sound system of risk
management and internal control
and that the system is operating
effectively in all material respects in
relation to financial reporting risks.
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
AS AT 9 OCTOBER 2012

1.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

		

Ordinary Share Capital

		

271,659,988 ordinary fully paid shares held by 2,430 shareholders.

5.

20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES
Name

Number of Securities

%

Citicorp Nom Pty Ltd

45,347,956

16.69

		Options

MAK Super WA Pty Ltd

16,864,649

6.21

		Listed

All-States Finance Pty Ltd

16,785,000

6.18

		

Sun Hung Kai Inv Svcs Ltd

12,000,000

4.42

		Unlisted

HSBC Custody Nom Aust Ltd

8,840,773

3.25

		
		
		

6,000,000 unlisted $1.00 options expiring 25 November 2013 held by 5 holders
3.300.000 unlisted $1.00 options expiring 17 May 2014 held by 7 holders
3,597,621 unlisted $0.4375 options expiring 27 March 2015 held by 1 holder

Taylor Ross

7,113,120

2.62

Nutsville Pty Ltd

6,912,920

2.54

JCO Inv Pty Ltd

6,625,000

2.44

2.

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK

Frere & Assoc Pty Ltd

5,969,114

2.20

		

There is no current on-market buy-back.

SHL Pty Ltd

5,000,000

1.84

CR Inv Pty Ltd

3,000,000

1.10

3.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Washington H Soul Pattins

3,000,000

1.10

BT Portfolio Svcs Ltd

3,000,000

1.10

Pershing Aust Nom Pty Ltd

2,635,000

0.97

17.87

Pindari Cust Pty Ltd

2,400,000

0.88

6.89
6.03

UBS Nom Pty Ltd

2,191,345

0.81

All States Secretariat Pty Ltd

2,000,000

0.74

Tulla Res Grp Pty Ltd

2,000,000

0.74

Mann Fiona

1,664,098

0.61

Onmell Pty Ltd

1,537,500

0.57

29,220,663 listed $0.60 options expiring 31 May 2013 held by 784 holders

Name

Number of Securities

Bluecrest Mercantile Master Fund Limited,
Bluecrest Mercantile Fund Limited, AllBlue Ltd

42,857,143

Peter J Newton
Miles Kennedy

4.

20,732,443
18,141,428

%

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Distribution

Number of Holders

%

1-1,000

651

0.09

1,001-5,000

550

0.54

5,001-10,000

247

0.72

10,001-100,000

711

9.73

100,001-

271

88.93

2,430

100

Total
		

6.

Distribution

There were 910 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel.
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DISTRIBUTION OF LISTED OPTION HOLDERS
Number of Holders

%

1-1,000

418

0.49

1,001-5,000

165

1.47

5,001-10,000

60

1.55

10,001-100,000

108

11.04

100,001-

33

85.44

Total

784

100

There were 576 option holders holding less than a marketable parcel.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

AS AT 9 OCTOBER 2012

The directors present their report together with the financial report of Resource and Investment NL (the Company
or RNI), for the year ended 30 June 2012 and the auditor’s report thereon.

7.

20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF LISTED OPTIONS
Name

22

Number of Securities

%

Citicorp Nom Pty Ltd

9,106,873

31.17%

Taylor Ross Jeremy

3,094,958

10.59%

HSBC Custody Nom Aust Ltd

2,455,255

8.40%

All-States Finance Pty Ltd

1,151,400

3.94%

Nutsville Pty Ltd

961,861

3.29%

CR Inv Pty Ltd

600,000

2.05%

Washington H Soul Pattins

600,000

2.05%

UBS Nom Pty Ltd

600,000

2.05%

Woodlands Asset Mgnt Pty Ltd

600,000

2.05%

BT Portfolio Svcs Ltd

600,000

2.05%

Frere & Assoc Pty Ltd

504,010

1.72%

Pershing Aust Nom Pty Ltd

495,000

1.69%

HSBC Custody Nom Aust Ltd

400,000

1.37%

Taylor Ross Jeremy

327,930

1.12%

JCO Inv Pty Ltd

325,000

1.11%

Jones John Michael

290,000

Taylor Ross

1.

DIRECTORS

		

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

		

Name

Period of Directorship

Mr Miles A Kennedy - Executive Chairman
Mr Albert G Thamm - Executive Director Technical
Mr John R Hutton - Non-Executive Director
Mr Thomas J Mann - Non-Executive Director

Director since 7 September 2006
Director since 1 December 2011
Director since 12 January 1999
Director since 27 April 2010

The qualifications, experience and other directorships of the directors in office at the date of this report are:
Miles A Kennedy
Experience and
expertise

Executive Chairman
Mr Kennedy was a lawyer. He has held directorships of Australian listed resource
companies for the past 27 years. He was the founding Chairman of Macraes Mining
Company Ltd, Executive Chairman of Kimberley Diamond Company NL (1993 to 2007)
and Non-executive Chairman of Blina Diamonds NL (2002 to 2007). He lives in Perth,
Western Australia.

Other current company
directorships

Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director of Lonrho Mining Limited (since Sept 2008).

Former listed company
directorships in last
three years

Non-executive Chairman of Sandfire Resources NL (Aug 2007 to Dec 2009).
Non-executive Chairman of Indago Resources Ltd (Aug 2009 to Sept 2009).
Non-executive director of Pangea Diamondfields Plc (2005 to 2009).

0.99%

Albert G Thamm

Executive Director - Technical

284,525

0.97%

MAK Super WA Pty Ltd

228,571

0.78%

Experience and
expertise

Pata Nom Pty Ltd

204,400

0.70%

Mr Thamm has 23 years experience in exploration and mining project development in
Australia, Africa and South America. He holds Bachelors, Honours and Masters Degrees
in Geology and is a fellow and chartered professional of the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy and a fellow of the Society of Economic Geologists (USA).

SHL Pty Ltd

200,000

0.68%

Former/current listed
company directorships
in last three years

None.

John R Hutton

Non-Executive Director

Experience and
expertise

Mr Hutton has a background in accounting and finance and is a Member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr Hutton has over 20 years’ experience in
the direction and management of a diverse range of successful commercial activities
including over 10 years’ experience as a director of several ASX listed companies. Mr
Hutton has had a long term involvement in the marine fishing, pearling and aquaculture
industries. Mr Hutton is a director of the Western Australian Fishing Industry Council,
the peak industry body that represents all WA Fishing and Aquaculture industry. He is a
director of Maxima Pearling Company Pty Ltd which is involved in the production of
Australian South Sea Pearls.

Former/current listed
company directorships
in last three years

Mr Hutton currently holds non-executive director positions with Marine Produce
Australia Ltd, and ASX listed explorer Brumby Resources Ltd, and was a Director of
Sandfire Resources NL during the copper/gold discovery at DeGrussa.

Thomas J Mann

Non-Executive Director

Experience and
expertise

Mr Mann has over 30 years experience in financial markets and global trade. He began
his career in the financial services industry as a stockbroker working in both Sydney
and London. He then began a global trading company with operations in the USA,
Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia and Australia. More recently he has been involved in
capital raising initiatives and strategic development programs for small to mid-size
public and private companies.

Former listed company
directorships in last
three years

Non-executive Chairman of Medical Australia Limited (Non-executive Director since
February 2006; appointed Non-executive Chairman June 2008 until March 2010).
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Chairman of MOD Resources Limited (since Mar 2011)
Chairman of Marine Produce Australia Limited (since Jun 2008)
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2.

COMPANY SECRETARY

		Mr Mark Clements holds the position of Company secretary, being appointed on 2 July 2012. Mr Clements
gained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University in Western Australia. He is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants and a member of both the Australian Institute of Company Directors and
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries in Australia. Mr Clements currently holds the position of Company
Secretary for a number of publically listed companies and has experience in corporate finance, accounting
and administration, capital raisings and ASX compliance and regulatory requirements.
		Ms Jean Mathie was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in November 2001 and held the
position of Company Secretary until 2 July 2012. Ms Mathie also held the position of Company Secretary for
Lonrho Mining Limited until 2 July 2012.

3.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

		There were no formal meetings of the directors of the Company during the financial year. All decisions were
executed via circular resolutions.

4.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

		The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was the exploration and evaluation of mineral
tenements in Western Australia and the acquisition of 100% equity in Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd.
		RNI underwent a significant transformation in March 2012 when the Company settled the $35 million
acquisition of the Grosvenor Gold Project (formerly the Fortnum Gold Project) and tenement package.
		

Grosvenor is located about 170km north-west of the historic WA gold mining region of Meekatharra.

		

The acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd delivered RNI ownership of a suite of assets including:
•

 he progression of studies to allow the submission of Works Approvals and Notices of Intent in the
T
December 2012 Quarter.

		An assessment of the geological resources for the Yarlarweelor, Horseshoe and Callies North gold deposits
near the Fortnum gold plant was undertaken by Ravensgate Mineral Industry Consultants with a view to
reserve declaration and open pit engineering design.
		This assessment highlighted that the project is viable and has the capacity to generate significant cash
flows over an initial five year mine life with ore extracted from these three pits.
		In addition, RNI engaged Ravensgate to undertake a resource re-estimation at the Horseshoe series of
open pits (Horseshoe, Cassidy and the Pod) at Fortnum. This resulted in a JORC compliant indicated and
inferred resource of 162,866oz based on 2.35Mt @ 2.15g/t using a 1g/t cut-off. A total of 87% of the
resources at Horseshoe have been upgraded to the indicated category.
		In addition, Ravensgate upgraded the resources at the Callies North open pit at Grosvenor to 38,800oz
based on 692,440 tonnes @ 1.74g/t using a 1g/t cut-off.
		These upgrades increased RNI’s overall Grosvenor gold resource inventory to 1,201,800oz, with more than
62% in the indicated category.
		This is significant because resource development from inferred to indicated is a critical step in reserve
development.

Project

Cut-off
(g/t)

Tonnes
(kt)

Grade
(g/t)

Tonnes
(kt)

Indicated

Grade
(g/t)

Tonnes
(kt)

Inferred

Grade
(g/t)

Au Ounces

Total

0.7

4,333

2

1,216

1.87

5,549

1.9

338,900

1

1,558

3

924

3.4

2,482

3.2

255,300

Starlight
Hanging Wall

1

145

4.3

503

2.9

648

3.2

66,700

Twilight

1

1,138

2.7

316

2.6

1,454

2.7

126,200

s upporting infrastructure including a 120-person accommodation village, airstrip, tailings storage
facility, bore field, haul roads and communications, all located within 1km of the Grosvenor plant;

Ricks

1

232

1.9

63

2.1

295

2

18,900

Midnight

1

229

2.3

124

2.7

353

2.4

27,300

an extensive geological and exploration database covering approximately 20 years.

Dougies

1

99

3.1

123

2.9

222

3

21,400

Eldorado

0.6

386

1.4

386

1.4

17,300

Toms & Sams

1

780

1.9

780

1.9

47,700

Horseshoe

1

290

2.35

2,353

2.15

162,900

1,081

1.9

1,081

1.9

66,000

58

1.5

692.4

1.74

38,800

328

1.4

328

1.4

14,700

16,623

2.2

1,202,100

•

 carbon-in-leach (CIL) gold processing facility with a nameplate capacity of around 1Mtpa which was in
a
production until May 2007;

Yarlarweelor

		When added to RNI’s existing gold and base metals exploration projects, the Grosvenor deal has delivered
the Company a dominant 2,225km2 holding in the highly prospective Bryah Basin. As a result, all of RNI’s
exploration properties, including Doolgunna and Fortnum West, now form part of the Grosvenor Project.

Nathans

		Since the acquisition, RNI has made significant progress advancing its gold plant refurbishment program,
upgrading its gold resource inventory and prioritising gold and base metals drilling targets across its
expanded 2,225km2 project area.
		

Grosvenor Gold Plant

		

Progress made with the refurbishing of the 1Mtpa Grosvenor gold plant included:

24

•

Starlight

JORC compliant resources in multiple deposits totalling 1.2Moz (based on 16.6Mt at 2.2g/t);

•

 he completion of open pit optimisation, mine planning and scheduling to allow for the declaration of
T
the projects’ first reserves; and

		Gold Resources

 n extensive 1,791km2 exploration portfolio in WA’s Bryah Basin comprising 11 granted Mining Leases
a
(ML’s) and 51 Exploration and Prospecting Leases (ELs and PLs) stretching from the Great Northern
Highway over 100km westwards;

•

•

•

		

2.13

634.4

1.77

0.75

Callies

1

Regent

0.6

TOTAL

2,063

10,431

6,192

Updated Gold Resources at Grosvenor

		
Exploration

•


The
appointment of Ms Danielle Gunnell as Project Manager to oversee the gold plant recommissioning
process;

•

 he appointment of a refurbishment contractor (Zell Pty Ltd) and the ordering and delivery of long lead
T
items. The contractor is on-site and refurbishment works are well underway;

•

The engagement of a multi-disciplinary project team to progress all regulatory approvals;

•

 he statutory approval of a processing Project Management Plan (PMP) to allow the commencement of
T
process plant refurbishment;

		The highlights from this drilling included the discovery of high grade gold mineralisation of up to 8.7g/t
intersected beneath the Eldorado pit ramp. Encouraging results, including 3m @ 10.5g/t from 138m, were
also received from the drilling at Horseshoe.

•

 he completion of a new engineering design for the Yarlarweelor, Horseshoe and Callies North open
T
pits; the design of a new creek diversion south of Yarlarweelor; and the design and uplift of current tails
dams, new tails dams and associated infrastructure;

		In August 2012, RNI expanded its footprint in the Bryah Basin with an agreement to earn a 51% stake in the
Horseshoe Lights East Project, immediately east of the historic Horseshoe Lights VMS copper-gold project.

•

The commencement of a mining contract tender process;

•

The completion of a 24km2 Lidar survey at the Horseshoe open pit and mining lease;
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		The extensive geological database acquired with the Grosvenor Gold acquisition enabled RNI’s geological
team to advance several early drilling programs on various gold and base metals targets.
		This included a combination of greenfields and brownfields targets at Doolgunna, Billara, Eldorado,
Horseshoe and Mining Lease M52/132 near the Grosvenor gold plant.

		RNI is planning for three new drilling programs on priority gold and base metals targets at Cashman’s
North, Horseshoe Lights East and the Jacques prospect at Morck’s Well.
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		In parallel, RNI continues to advance exploration programs designed to generate fresh drilling targets
across its extensive and highly prospective Bryah Basin tenement holding. The Company has completed
geochemical sampling over more than 10% of the 2,225km2 holding as part of a systematic approach to
prioritising drilling targets.

7.

		Targets at the advanced stage include the Cascade, Frenchy’s, Jacques West and Jolly Frog prospects at
Morck’s Well, as well as Wilthorpe and Fortnum West.

8.
		

		Corporate
		On 9 January 2012, RNI announced it had reached agreement with BlueCrest Mercantile Master Fund Ltd
to acquire Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd, the owner of the Grosvenor Gold Project and tenement package, for
$35 million in cash and shares.
		On 23 January 2012, RNI announced that the consideration payable to BlueCrest would comprise
approximately 42.86 million RNI shares, approximately 8.57 million RNI options (exercisable at 60c on or
before 31 May 2013) and $20 million cash.
		On 8 March 2012, RNI announced it had completed the placement of 72 million RNI shares at an issue price
of 35c to institutional and sophisticated investors, raising a total of $25.2 million. Investors who subscribed
to the new shares were also issued with one RNI option for every five RNI shares subscribed to in the
placement, at no further consideration.
		On 28 March 2012, RNI announced it had raised a further $10.93 million through an underwritten nonrenounceable entitlements issue, pursuant to a prospectus dated 22 February 2012, under which the
Company issued 31.24 million new shares and 6.24 million new options.
		Of the $36.13 million raised in the placement and entitlements issue, $20 million was paid to BlueCrest
during the Quarter as the cash consideration of the $35 million Grosvenor acquisition.
		RNI has continued negotiations for a debt facility which will be used to fund the refurbishment of the
Grosvenor gold plant and provide further working capital.
		The new shares issued to BlueCrest and those issued in the entitlements issue and placement have
increased RNI’s capital base to approximately 271 million shares, with BlueCrest emerging as the major
shareholder in the Company with a 15.8 percent holding.
		

Review of Financial Condition

DIVIDENDS

		The directors have not recommended the declaration of a dividend. No dividends were paid or declared
during the current or prior period.

9.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
Subsequent to the reporting date the Company released the following ASX announcements:
•

 he intersection of high grade gold mineralisation beneath the Eldorado open pit ramp, on
T
6 August 2012;

•

The expiry of 520,000 unlisted options on 8 August 2012;

•

 he reaching of agreement to earn a 51% interest in the Horseshoe Lights East Joint Venture,
T
on 20 August 2012;

•

The appointment of Mrs Debbie Fullarton as Chief Financial Officer, on 31 August 2012;

•

 he issue of 572,458 fully paid shares to holders of the Horseshoe Lights East Project in terms of the
T
announcement on 20 August 2012;

•

An exploration update on 25 September 2012; and

•

 he signing of an option agreement with Montezuma Mining Company Limited on 26 September 2012
T
to acquire the Peak Hill Gold Project in order to unlock stranded resources in the area surrounding the
Grosvenor Gold Project.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS

		Comments on expected results of certain operations of the Group are included in this financial report under
section 4, Principal activities and review of operations.

10.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

		The relevant interest of each director in the shares and options as notified by the directors to the Australian
Securities Exchange in accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is
as follows:

		The Group recorded a loss of $4,118,771 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: loss of $2,810,183).
		As at 30 June 2012, the Group had a net working capital surplus of $7,969,977 (2011: net working capital
surplus of $6,700,584), represented significantly by cash and cash equivalent assets of $7,596,648 ($2011:
$6,796,149). The Group’s net asset position was $54,081,446 (2011: $9,025,108).

5.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

		In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that
occurred during the financial year, other than those described in this report under ‘Principal activities and
review of operations’.

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

		The Group’s exploration activities are subject to various environmental regulations. The Board is
responsible for the regular monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with environmental
regulations.
		The Group is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance and conducts its
activities in a professional and environmentally conscious manner and in accordance with applicable laws
and permit requirements. The Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the
management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental
requirements as they apply to the Group.
		The directors have considered the recently enacted National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007
(the NGER Act) which introduces a single national reporting framework for the reporting and dissemination
of information about the greenhouse gas emissions, greenhouse gas projects, and energy use and
production of corporations. At the current stage of development, the directors have determined that the
NGER Act will have no effect on the Company for the current financial year. The directors will reassess this
position as and when the need arises.
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Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas J Mann
Albert G Thamm
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Fully paid
ordinary shares

Listed options
@$0.60 expiring 31
May 2013

Unlisted options
@$1.00 expiring 25
Nov 2013

Unlisted options
@$1.00 expiring 17
May 2014

17,912,857
9,028,076
1,000,000
-

228,571
332,893
-

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
-

1,000,000

		

Each option carries the right to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in Resource and Investment NL.

11.

SHARE OPTIONS

		

Unissued shares under option

		

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are:
Expiry date
31 May 2013
25 November 2013
17 May 2014
27 March 2015

Exercise Price

Number of shares

$0.60
$1.00
$1.00
$0.44

29,220,663
6,000,000
3,300,000
3,597,621
42,118,284

		The options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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Share options issued

		Performance linked compensation (Short-term incentive bonus)

		The following options over ordinary shares were issued by the Company during or since the end of the
financial year.

		In considering the Group’s strategic objectives the Board may integrate certain performance linked shortterm incentives (STIs) into key management personnel compensation packages.

Expiry date

Exercise Price

Number of shares

$1.00
$1.00
$0.44

1,000,000
2,000,000
3,597,621

17 May 2014
25 November 2013
27 March 2015

		Performance linked compensation primarily include STIs and are considered by the Board as and when
projects are delivered and are entirely at the Board’s discretion. The measures chosen are designed to
align the individual’s reward to the achievement of the Group’s strategies and goals and to reward key
management personnel for meeting or exceeding their personal objectives.
		No bonuses were paid during the current financial year.

		Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options

		Equity based compensation (Long-term incentive bonus)

		The following number of ordinary shares was issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of options
during or since the end of the financial year.

		The Board provides equity-based long-term incentives (LTIs) to promote continuity of employment and to
provide additional incentive to key management personnel to increase shareholder wealth. LTIs are
provided as options over ordinary shares of the Company and are provided to key management personnel
based on their level of seniority and position within the Group. Options may only be issued to directors
subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.

Expiry date

Exercise Price

Number of shares

31 May 2013

$0.60

2

		Other shares issued since the end of the financial year

		Employee’ Incentive Options

		The following number of ordinary shares was issued by the Company since the end of the financial year.

		Short-term and long-term incentive structure and consequences of performance on shareholder wealth:

Date
31 May 2013

Exercise Price

Number of shares

		Given the Group’s principal activity during the course of the financial year consisted of exploration and
evaluation, the Board has given more significance to service criteria instead of market related criteria in
setting the Group’s incentive schemes. Accordingly, at this stage the Board does not consider the
Company’s earnings or earning measures to be an appropriate key performance indicator. The issue of
options as part of the remuneration package of directors is an established practice for listed exploration
companies and has the benefit of conserving cash whilst appropriately rewarding the directors. In
considering the relationship between the Group’s remuneration policy and the consequences for the
Company’s shareholder wealth, changes in share price are analysed.

$1.50
$0.40

1,500,000
520,000

		The following table outlines the Group’s respective earnings and share price for the period 1 July 2007 to
30 June 2012.

Exercise Price

Number of shares

Consideration

$0.3057

572,458

$175,000

		Share options expired
		The following options over ordinary shares expired during or since the end of the financial year.
Expiry date
8 September 2011
7 August 2012

12.

REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED

12.1

Principles of compensation

		Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout this report.

Net result profit/(loss)
Closing ASX share price

30 Jun 08

30 Jun 09

30 Jun 10

30 Jun 11

30 Jun 12

($3,167,050)
$0.065

$4,677,938
$0.025

($360,270)
$0.155

($2,810,183)
$1.29

($4,118,771)
$0.31

		Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Group.

		In the opinion of the Board, these earnings, as listed above, are largely irrelevant for assessing the Group’s
respective performance during the exploration and evaluation phases.

		Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Group are competitively set to attract and retain
appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives. The Board obtains independent advice on
the appropriateness of compensation packages of the Group given trends in comparative companies both
locally and internationally and the objectives of the Group’s compensation strategy.

		
Service contracts

		The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward
the achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for
shareholders. Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation, equity-based compensation,
performance-based compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds.
		Shares and options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.
		The Board has no established retirement or redundancy schemes.

		
i) Executive chairman
			Director and consulting services are provided by Mr Kennedy via an associated company on normal
commercial terms and conditions, but not under any contract.
		
ii) Executive director
			

Executive director services are provided by Mr Thamm via a company associated with Mr Kennedy.
•

Remuneration - $250,000 per annum (including superannuation)



•

Termination notice required - 3 months



•

Termination benefit: $62,500

		
Fixed compensation

		
iii) Non-executive directors

		Fixed compensation consists of base compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation
funds. Compensation levels are reviewed annually by the Board through a process that considers individual
and overall performance of the Group. In addition, from time to time external consultants provide analysis
and advice to ensure the directors’ and senior executives’ compensation is competitive in the market place.

			Non-executive directors are paid at a rate of $60,000 per annum on a continuous service arrangement
requiring at least one month’s notice for termination.

		The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 30
June 2012.
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			Total compensation for all non-executive directors are set based on advice, from time to time, from
external advisors with reference to fees paid to other non-executive directors of comparable companies.
The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended
30 June 2012. Non-executive directors’ fees are presently limited to $250,000 per annum, excluding
director services charged under management or consulting contracts.
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			Non-executive directors do not receive performance related compensation. Options issued to nonexecutive directors are provided as an incentive to promote continuity of service and are not
performance based.
			Directors’ fees cover all main Board activities. The Board has no established retirement or redundancy
schemes in relation to non-executive directors.
12.2

Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration

12.3.2 Exercise of options granted as remuneration
		During the reporting period, no shares were issued on exercise of options previously granted as
compensation.
12.3.3 Analysis of movement in options
		The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by
key management person is detailed below.

		Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration are:
Equity settled
share based
Short term Superannuation
payments
Salary & fees
benefits
Options(i)
$
$
$

Directors
Miles A Kennedy,
Chairman

2012

167,402

23,712

-

191,114

-

-

2011

95,000

25,000

254,665

374,665

-

68

John R Hutton

2012

55,046

4,954

-

60,000

-

-

2011

55,046

4,954

254,665

314,665

-

81

2012

20,800

39,200

-

60,000

-

-

2011

20,800

39,200

254,665

314,665

-

81

Albert G Thamm (ii) 2012

138,275

28,445

192,812

359,532

-

53

Thomas J Mann

		

Total
$

Proportion of
remuneration Value of options
performance as proportion of
related
remuneration
%
%

Albert G Thamm

Value of options
exercised in year
$ (B)

192,812

-

		

(A)	The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using the
Black Scholes option-pricing model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table
above. The amount is allocated to remuneration over the vesting period.

		

(B)	The value of options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the
Company as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to
exercise the option.

END OF AUDITED SECTION

2011

-

-

-

-

-

-

13.

Total

2012

381,523

96,311

192,812

670,646

-

28

Total

2011

170,846

69,154

763,995

1,003,995

-

76

		The Board is committed to having an appropriate blend of diversity on the Board and in all areas of the
Group’s business. The Board has established a policy (‘Diversity Policy’ or ‘policy’) regarding gender, age,
ethnic and cultural diversity. Details of the policy are available on the Company’s website.

i)	The fair value of the options are calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.
The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options allocated to this reporting period.
Further details of the issue are included below.

		

ii)	Appointed 1 December 2011

12.3

Equity instruments

		Options refer to options over ordinary shares of Resource & Investment NL and are exercisable on a onefor-one basis.
		Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted and vested as compensation to
each key management person are as follows.
Number of
options granted
during
Employees

2011/2012

Albert G Thamm

1,000,000

Grant date

Fair value per
option at grant
date ($)

Exercise price
per option ($)

Expiry date

Number of
options vested
during
2011/2012

14 Nov 2011

0.193

$1.00

17 May 2014

1,000,000
2010/2011

DIVERSITY

		
Diversity Policy
		The Company and all its related bodies corporate are committed to workplace diversity.
		The Company recognises the benefits arising from employee and Board diversity, including a broader pool
of high quality employees, improving employee retention, accessing different perspectives and ideas and
benefiting from all available talent.
		Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background.
		To the extent practicable, the Company will address the recommendations and guidance provided in the
ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations.
		The Diversity Policy does not form part of an employee’s contract of employment with The Company, nor
gives rise to contractual obligations. However, to the extent that the Diversity Policy requires an employee
to do or refrain from doing something and at all times subject to legal obligations, the Diversity Policy forms
a direction of the Company with which an employee is expected to comply.
		The key objectives of the Diversity Policy are to achieve:
		

(a)	a diverse and skilled workforce, leading to continuous improvement in service delivery and achievement
of corporate goals;

Directors

2010/2011

Miles A Kennedy

1,000,000

25 Nov 2010

0.255

$1.00

25 Nov 2013

1,000,000

John R Hutton

1,000,000

25 Nov 2010

0.255

$1.00

25 Nov 2013

1,000,000

		(c) improved employment and career development opportunities for women;

Thomas Mann

1,000,000

25 Nov 2010

0.255

$1.00

25 Nov 2013

1,000,000

		(d)	a work environment that values and utilises the contributions of employees with diverse backgrounds,
experiences and perspectives through improved awareness of the benefits of workforce diversity and
successful management of diversity; and

		Options issued during the year ended 30 June 2012 vested on grant date, being 14 November 2011. This was
prior to his appointment as a director.
		Options issued during the year ended 30 June 2011 vested on grant date, being 25 November 2010.
		No options were forfeited by key management persons during the reporting period.
12.3.1 Modifications of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions
		No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options and rights granted as
compensation to a key management person) have been altered or modified by the issuing entity during the
reporting period or the prior period.

30

Director / Employee

Granted in year
$ (A)
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		(b) a workplace culture characterised by inclusive practices and behaviours for the benefit of all staff;

		(e)	awareness in all staff of their rights and responsibilities with regards to fairness, equity and respect for
all aspects of diversity,
		(collectively, the Objectives).
		The Diversity Policy does not impose on the Company, its directors, officers, agents or employee any
obligation to engage in, or justification for engaging in, any conduct which is illegal or contrary to any
anti-discrimination or equal employment opportunity legislation or laws in any State or Territory of
Australia or of any foreign jurisdiction.
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Diversity Reporting

15.

		The Group’s gender diversity as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

		During the year Somes Cooke, the Company’s auditor, did not perform any services other than their audit
services.

Gender representation
Board representation
Group representation

30 June 2012
Female
Male
No
%
No
%
7

29

4
17

100
71

30 June 2011
Female
Male
No
%
No
%
2

33

3
4

		In the event that non-audit services are provided by Somes Cooke, the Board has established certain
procedures to ensure that the provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not compromise,
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. These procedures include:

100
67

		The following senior positions with the Group are currently held by female employees:
`

•
•
•
•

Project Manager
Chief Financial Officer
Group Accountant
Office Manager

		The Company’s proposed diversity objectives for the 2013 financial year are as follows:
		

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

•

 on-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Group and
n
will be reviewed by the Group to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor;
and

•

 nsuring non-audit services do not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a
e
management or decision making capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for the Group or jointly
sharing risks and rewards.

		Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company and their related practices for audit services
provided during the year are set out below.

(i) Appointment of a diversity officer to:

			

(a)	assess and proactively monitor gender diversity at all levels of RNI’s business and report to the
Board; and

			

(b)	assess and monitor the implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s diversity initiatives and
programs.

Audit services:
Audit and review of financial reports (Somes Cooke)

2012
$

2011
$

37,103
37,103

26,250
26,250

		

(ii) Update recruitment policies and procedures to reflect RNI’s position on diversity;

16.

		

(iii)	Undertake an annual review of maternity and paternity leave and flexible working arrangements to
ensure roles are appropriate to maintain career development.

14.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

		The information in this report which relates to Exploration Results and Mineral Resources is based on
information compiled by Mr Albert Thamm, who is a Fellow and Chartered Professional of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Thamm is a director of Resource and Investment NL and has
sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralization and type of deposit under consideration
and to the activities which undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of
the Australasian Code for Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Thamm
consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on information in the form and context in which
it appears.

		Indemnification
		The Group indemnifies each of its directors and company secretary. The Group indemnifies each director or
officer to the maximum extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 from liability to third parties, except
where the liability arises out of conduct involving lack of good faith, and in defending legal and
administrative proceedings and applications for such proceedings.
		The Group must use its best endeavours to insure a director or officer against any liability, which does not
arise out of a conduct constituting a wilful breach of duty or a contravention of the Corporations Act 2001.
The Group must also use its best endeavour to insure a director or officer against liability for costs and
expenses incurred in defending proceedings whether civil or criminal.

17.

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

		The Lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 34 and forms part of the directors’ report
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
		

This report is made with a resolution of the directors.

		The Group has not entered into any agreement with its current auditors indemnifying them against any
claims by third parties arising from their report on the financial report.
		The directors of the Company are not aware of any proceedings or claim brought against Resource and
Investment NL or its controlled entities as at the date of this report.
		Insurance
		The Group holds cover in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance, for
current and former directors and officers of the Group. The premium paid during the year was $14,520.

MILES KENNEDY
Director
Dated at Subiaco this 28th day of September 2012
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note
Continuing operations
Finance income
Other income

3

Administrative expenses
Exclusivity fee
Impairment of exploration assets
Stamp duty expense
Impairment of financial assets
Share based payments expense
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit (expense)
Loss from continuing operations

3
3
12
16
9
3
4

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to members
of the parent
Loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)

5

2012
$

2011
$

127,460
266,103

62,026
-

(2,338,696)
(1,200,000)
(950,000)
(23,638)
(4,118,771)
(4,118,771)

(801,332)
(41,300)
(35,279)
(1,994,298)
(2,810,183)
(2,810,183)

-

-

(4,118,771)

(2,810,183)

(2.44)

(2.39)

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

STATEMENT IN CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Total current assets
Financial assets
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure
Other non-current receivables
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current provisions
Total current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

14
7
8

2011
$

7,596,648
457,842
749,625
8,804,115

6,796,149
69,682
6,865,831

15,537
1,225,060
3,779,645
42,265,126
1,654,000
48,939,368
57,743,483

39,175
96,550
2,188,799
2,324,524
9,190,355

15
16

1,107,138
960,899
2,068,037

165,247
165,247

17

1,594,000
1,594,000

9
10
11
12
13

Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity

2012
$

18
18

-

3,662,037

165,247

54,081,446

9,025,108

83,641,457
2,862,540
(32,422,551)
54,081,446

35,267,878
2,107,564
(28,350,334)
9,025,108

Opening balance at 1 July 2010
Total comprehensive income for the period
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity
Shares issued
Share issue costs
Exercise of options
Share based payments
Transfer from share-based payments reserve on
exercise of options
Expiry of options
Balance as at 30 June 2011
Opening balance as at 1 July 2011
Total comprehensive income for the period
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity
Shares issued for cash & exploration licences
(Note 18)
Shares issued on business combination (Note 19)
Share issue costs
Share based payments
Expiry of options
Balance as at 30 June 2012

Share based
payments
reserve
$

Issued capital
$

Accumulated
losses
$

26,348,663

(25,620,487)

-

(2,810,183)
(2,810,183)

-

(2,810,183)
(2,810,183)

-

2,250,882

8,143,879
(328,350)
824,000
2,250,882

279,686
35,267,878

80,337
(28,350,334)

(279,686)
(80,337)
2,107,564

9,025,108

35,267,878

(28,350,334)

2,107,564

9,025,108

-

(4,118,771)
(4,118,771)

-

(4,118,771)
(4,118,771

36,292,127
15,000,000
(2,918,548)
83,641,457

46,554
(32,422,551)

8,143,879
(328,350)
824,000
-

216,705

801,530
(46,554)
2,862,540

Total equity
$
944,881

36,292,127
15,000,000
(2,918,548)
801,530
54,081,446

The consolidated statement in changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for exploration and evaluation
Payments for mine development
Bond deposits
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payment for subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Net cash outflow from investing activities

14a

14b

2012
$
2,273
(3,415,089)
85,004
(3,327,812)

(7,370,873)
(1,303,343)
(15,000)
(912,738)
(19,987,383)
(29,589,337)

2011
$
(784,270)
62,026
(686,244)

(1,627,470)
(37,007)
(1,664,477)

1.

REPORTING ENTITY

		Resource and Investment NL (the Company or RNI) is a company domiciled in Australia. The address of
the Company’s registered office and principal place of business is 34 Bagot Road, Subiaco WA 6008. The
Company is primarily involved in the exploration and evaluation of mineral tenements in Western Australia.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprised
the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary (together referred to as the “Group”).
		

Statement of compliance

		

a) Statement of compliance

			The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) adopted by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report of
the Group complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
			The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28th September 2012.
		

b) Basis of measurement

			
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of shares
Share issue costs
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

14c

14

36,136,127
(2,418,479)
33,717,648

8,792,880
(328,350)
8,464,530

800,499
6,796,149
7,596,648

6,113,809
682,340
6,796,149

The consolidated statement of cash flow is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

			

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following.
•

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value; and

•

Share-based payments are measured at fair value.

The methods used to determine fair values are discussed further in the following notes.
•
•

		

c) Functional and presentation currency

			
		

 vailable-for-sale financial assets note 2(c); and
A
Share-based payments note 2(o).

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional currency.

d) Use of estimates and judgements

			The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

		The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group.
		Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation where
required.
		

a) Basis of consolidation

			Subsidiaries
			Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable or
convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with
the policies adopted by the Company.
			

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.

			Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position respectively.
			

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

			Intra-group transactions, balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

			Business combination
			Business combinations occur when an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.
A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control.
			The business combination will be accounted for from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is
recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).
			When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not measured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognition any change to fair value in profit or loss,
unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.
			All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations are expensed to the statement of
comprehensive income.

Available-for-sale financial assets
			The Group’s investments in equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value, where a measure of fair value exists,
and changes therein, other than impairment losses (see accounting policy note 2(h)), and foreign
currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items (see accounting policy note 2(b)), are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve.
When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to the income
statement. Where an available for sale financial asset formerly had a fair value but presently a fair value
measurement cannot be obtained, it is carried at its last known fair value and it is carried at cost which
is the last known fair value.
			The fair value of listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale is their quoted bid price at the
balance sheet date.
Non-derivative financial liabilities

		b) Foreign currency

			Financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. Financial assets and liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has
a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

			Foreign currency transactions

			The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables, and provisions.

			Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group at
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised
in the income statement.

			Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method.

			The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase
price.

		c) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial assets
			The Group initially recognises receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through the statement of comprehensive
income) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
			The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is
recognised as a separate asset or liability.
			Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
			The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
			

Cash and cash equivalents

			Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. The Group
does not recognise funds held in trust, in relation to equity issues, as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.
			

		d) Issued capital
			Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Dividends on
ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.
		e) Inventory
			Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual
items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
		

f) Property, plant and equipment

			
Recognition and measurement
			Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
			Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
			When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
			Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are
recognised net within “other income” in the statement of comprehensive income.

Accounting for finance income and finance cost is discussed in note 2(k).

			Receivables
			Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

			Subsequent costs

		h) Impairment

			The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of an item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense incurred.

			Financial assets (including receivables)

			Depreciation
			Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a diminishing value basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives in the
current and comparative periods are as follows:
				
Office equipment
20%
Plant and equipment 40%
Motor vehicles
20%
			
		

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

g) Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

			Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of
technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration
and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is measured at cost.
			Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to each identifiable are of interest are recognised as an
exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred. These costs are only carried
forward to the extent that the following conditions are satisfied:
			

(i) rights to tenure of the identifiable area of interest are current; and

			

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

				

a.	the expenditure is expected to be recouped through the successful development of the
identifiable are of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

				

b.	where activities in the identifiable area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage
that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable
reserves and activities in, or in relation to, the area of interest.

			A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned
area are written off in full in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the decision to
abandon the area is made.
			Exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indicators of impairment and
tested for impairment where such indicators exist. If the test indicates that the carrying value might not
be recoverable the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Any such impairment arising is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year.
			Where an impairment loss subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in previous years.
			Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction mineral resource in an area of
interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first
tested for impairment and then reclassified from exploration and evaluation expenditure to development
expenditure.
			Once a mining project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, expenditure
other than that on land, buildings, plant and equipment is capitalised as development expenditure.
Development expenditure includes previously capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, preproduction development costs, development studies and other subsurface expenditure pertaining to
that area of interest. Costs related to surface plant and equipment and any associated land and
buildings are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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			A financial asset not carried at fair value through the statement of comprehensive income is assessed
at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial
asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
			Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or
delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would
not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, and the disappearance
of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or
prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence if impairment.
			The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.
All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant
receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that
has been incurred but not yet identified. Receivables that are not individually significant are collectively
assessed in groups that show similar credit risk characteristics.
			An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original interest rate. Losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the
impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed
through the statement of comprehensive income.
			Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair
value reserve in equity, to the income statement. The cumulative loss that is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement is the difference between the
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
			Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised
in other comprehensive income.
Non-financial assets
			The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
			The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of impairment testing, assets that
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of
assets (the “cash-generating unit”). For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
			The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the
corporate asset belongs.
			An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the
carrying amounts of other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
			Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

		i) Employee benefits
Defined contribution superannuation funds
			A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee
benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income in the periods during which services are
rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in future payments is available.
Short-term benefits

			Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
			A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

			Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services
provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage
and salary rates that the Group expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as
workers compensation insurance and payroll tax.

		

		j) Provisions

			Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset or liability
in the balance sheet.

			A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.
		k) Revenue
			Goods sold
			Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
net of returns and allowances. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management
involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. No revenue is
recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration.
			
Services
			Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in proportion
to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date.
			
Finance income and finance costs
			Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it
accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, using the effective interest method.
			Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and
impairment losses recognised on financial assets.
			
Foreign currency
			Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
		l) Income tax
			Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or
items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
			Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
			Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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m) Goods and services tax

			Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense.

			Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the
Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating cash flows.
		

n) Loss per share

			The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share for its ordinary shares. Basic loss per share is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share
is only determined if the Company is in a profit position. Refer to note 5 for details.
		

o) Accounting estimates and judgements

			Management discusses with the Board the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The estimates
and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
			Taxation
			Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes related to taxation, are based on the best
estimates of directors and take into account the financial performance and position of the Group as they
pertain to current income tax legislation, and the directors understanding thereof. No adjustment has
been made for pending or future taxation legislation. The current tax position represents the best
estimate, pending assessment by the Australian Tax Office.
			Exploration and evaluation assets
			The accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in expenditure being capitalised
for an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or sale or
where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence
of reserves. This policy requires management to make certain estimates as to future events and
circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established.
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after
having capitalised the expenditure under the policy, a judgement is made that the recovery of the
expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to profit and loss.
			
Development expenditure
			Development activities commence after commercial viability and technical feasibility of the project is
established. Judgement is applied by management in determine when a project is commercially viable
and technically feasible. In exercising this judgement, management is required to make certain
estimates and assumptions as to the future events. If, after having commenced the development
activity, a judgement is made that a development asset is impaired, the appropriate amount will be
written off to profit and loss.
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Share-based payment transactions
			The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of options granted is measured using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions set out within
note 21.
			Estimated useful lives of assets
			Estimated useful lives of assets have been based on historical experience. The condition of the assets
is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining life. Adjustments to useful
lives are made when considered necessary.
			
Provision for rehabilitation
			Included in liabilities at the end of each reporting period is an amount that represents an estimate of the
cost to rehabilitate the land upon which the Group has carried out its exploration and evaluation for
mineral resources. Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the
costs required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Actual costs incurred in future
periods to settle these obligations could differ materially from these estimates. Additionally, future
changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates, and discount rates could affect
the carrying amount of this provision.
		

p) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

			The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those
which may impact the entity in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at
30 June 2012, but have not been applied in preparing this financial report.
•

 ASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian
A
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112,
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 &
127] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).

				These Standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, as well as recognition and de-recognition
requirements for financial instruments.
				The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of these pronouncements on its
financial statements.
•

 ASB 2010–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of
A
Underlying Assets [AASB 112] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012).

				This Standard makes amendments to AASB 112: Income Taxes and incorporates Interpretation 121:
Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into AASB 112.
				Under the current AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
depends on whether an entity expects to recover an asset by using it or by selling it. The
amendments introduce a presumption that an investment property is recovered entirely through
sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
				The amendments are not expected to significantly impact the Group.
•

 SB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of
A
Interests in Other Entities, AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements (August 2011), AASB 128:
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (August 2011) and AASB 2011–7: Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009–11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 5, 9, 16 & 17] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1
January 2013).

				AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008,
as amended) and Interpretation 112: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. AASB 10 provides a
revised definition of control and additional application guidance so that a single control model will
apply to all investees. The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of this
Standard on its financial statements.
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				AASB 11 replaces AASB 131: Interests in Joint Ventures (July 2004, as amended). AASB 11 requires
joint arrangements to be classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint
ventures” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement). Joint ventures are required to adopt the equity method of accounting
(proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed).
				AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a
subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a
“structured entity”, replacing the “special purpose entity” concept currently used in Interpretation
112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured
entities. This Standard will affect disclosures only and is not expected to significantly impact the
Group.
				To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have
also been issued. The Group has not yet been able to estimate the impact of the changes.
				AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009–11, 2010–7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116,
117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2013).
				AASB 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value, and
requires disclosures about fair value measurement.
•

AASB 13 requires:

				

-	inputs to all fair value measurements to be categorised in accordance with a fair value
hierarchy; and

				

-	enhanced disclosures regarding all assets and liabilities (including, but not limited to, financial
assets and financial liabilities) to be measured at fair value.

				

These Standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group.

•

 ASB 2011–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other
A
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] (applicable for
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2012).

				The main change arising from this Standard is the requirement for entities to group items presented
in other comprehensive income (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to
profit or loss subsequently.
				This Standard affects presentation only and is therefore not expected to significantly impact the
Group.
•

 ASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011–10: Amendments to Australian
A
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, AASB 8, AASB 101,
AASB 124, AASB 134, AASB 1049 & AASB 2011–8 and Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).

				These Standards introduce a number of changes to accounting and presentation of defined benefit
plans. The Group does not have any defined benefit plans and so is not impacted by the amendment.
				AASB 119 (September 2011) also includes changes to the accounting for termination benefits that
require an entity to recognise an obligation for such benefits at the earlier of:
				

-

				

-	for an offer that cannot be withdrawn – when the offer is communicated to affected employees;
and

for an offer that may be withdrawn – when the employee accepts;

				

-	where the termination is associated with a restructuring of activities under AASB 137:
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and if earlier than the first two
conditions – when the related restructuring costs are recognised.

				

The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of these changes to AASB 119.
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3.

REVENUE AND EXPENSES INCLUDES
Note
Other Income
Debt forgiveness
Rental income
Minimum Lease Payments
Office lease payments (included in administrative expenses)
Depreciation
Plant and equipment (included in administrative expenses)

4.

2012
$

2011
$

263,830
2,273
266,103

-

136,952
136,952

74,800
74,800

217,313
217,313

17,366
17,366

919,321

374,419
1,994,298
2,368,717

Personnel Expenses
Employee benefits expense (included in administrative
expenses)
Equity settled share-based payments expense

21

919,321

Exclusivity Fee
Non-refundable fee paid to reserve the exclusive right to
negotiate for the acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd
(subsequently acquired)

19

1,200,000

-

These benefits will only be obtained if:

		

i)	The Company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the
benefit from the deductions for the loss and exploration expenditure to be realised;

		

ii) The Company continues to comply with conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and

		

iii)	No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit from the deductions
for the loss and exploration expenditure.

		The Group has not yet made an election to Tax Consolidate as the implications of the acquisition of
Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd required further assessment.
		

5.

(4,118,771)

(2,810,183)

(1,235,631)

(843,055)

74,861

600,906

1,263,063
142,871
(79,149)

357,656
(89,992)
-

(166,015)
-

(25,515)
-
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8,157,515

5,383,247

2,447,255

2011
$
(596,640)
(1,878)
135,779
(106,031)
2,419,385
(1,850,615)
-

2012

2011

2.44

2.39

		The calculation of basic loss per share at 30 June 2012 is based on the loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of $ 4,118,771 (2011: loss of $2,810,183) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding of 169,115,213 (2011: 117,725,332).
		As at 30 June 2012, the options detailed within note 18 are considered to be potential ordinary shares.
However, as the Group is in a loss position, the potential ordinary shares are considered to be anti-dilutive
in nature, as their exercise will not result in a diluted loss per share that shows an inferior view of earnings
performance of the Group than is shown by basic loss per share. For this reason, the options have not been
included in the determination of diluted loss per share and the diluted loss per share is disclosed to be the
same as basic loss per share.

6.

AUDITORS REMUNERATION
2012
$

2011
$

37,103
37,103

26,250
26,250

Audit services:
Audit and review of financial reports (Somes Cooke)

17,944,157

2012
$
(12,149,140)
(869,150)
(372,380)
11,312,291
694,090
5,383,247
(3,998,958)
-

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share (cents)

		(b) Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised
Potential tax benefit @ 30%

(c) Deferred tax (liabilities) / assets not recognised

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure
Plant and equipment
Inventory
Investments
Provisions and sundry items
Tax losses
Deferred tax asset not recognised
Net deferred tax liability

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(a) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense (benefit)
and pre-tax net loss
Loss before tax
Income tax benefit using the domestic corporation tax rate
of 30% (2011: 30%)
Increase (decrease) in income tax due to:
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
not recognised
Movement in unrecognised temporary differences
Tax effect of non-assessable income
Movement in unrecognised temporary differences
Tax deductible equity raising costs
Income tax expense (income) attributable to entity

48
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7.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Receivable from Australian Taxation Office
Interest receivable
Other

2012
$
387,126
34,881
35,835
457,842

2011
$
67,682
2,000
69,682

11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment is set out below.

		The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other
receivables are disclosed in note 22.

8.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments

2012
$
749,625

2011
$
-

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets

		

2012
$
15,537

2011
$
39,175

The Group holds equity investments in listed and unlisted entities.

		The Group has recognised $ 23,638 (2011: $35,279) in impairment losses with respect to its available-forsale financial assets during the financial year.

10.

Carrying amount
At cost
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 30 June 2011

1,750
(653)
1,097

56,117
(44,510)
11,607

98,562
(14,716)
83,846

156,429
(59,879)
96,550

At cost
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 30 June 2012

3,126,763
(30,888)
3,095,875

212,878
(67,785)
145,093

717,196
(178,519)
538,677

4,056,837
(277,192)
3,779,645

1,721
(624)
1,097

12,168
1,994
(2,555)
11,607

63,021
35,012
(14,187)
83,846

76,910
37,006
(17,366)
96,550

11,607
152,554
13,472
(9,265)
(23,275)
145,093

83,846
618,634
(163,803)
538,677

96,550
912,738
2,996,935
(9,265)
(217,313)
3,779,645

Balance at 1 July 2011
Additions
Acquisitions through business combination (i)
Disposals
Depreciation
Balance as at 30 June 2012

		For listed investments, they are carried at fair value, represented by their quoted bid price at balance sheet
date. For unlisted investments, they are carried at cost.
		Impairment loss

Office
equipment
$

Movement in carrying amount
Balance at 1 July 2010
Additions
Depreciation
Balance as at 30 June 2011

		Prepayments comprises of prepayments for insurance policies ($99,625) and a prepayment for the upgrade
of mine plant ($650,000).

9.

Plant &
equipment
$

1,097
141,550
2,983,463
(30,235)
3,095,875

		

Acquired through the acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (Note 19).

12.

EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

INVENTORY
Run of mine stockpiles
Fuel supplies

		

2012
$
1,202,335
22,725
1,225,060

2011
$
-

Note

Exploration and
evaluation
$

Balance at 1 July 2010
Expenditure during the period
Impairment loss
Balance as at 30 June 2011

The run of mine stockpile was acquired upon the acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (Note 19).

171,046
2,059,053
(41,300)
2,188,799

Balance at 1 July 2011
Acquisitions through business combinations (i),(ii)
Expenditure during the period
(iii),(iv)
Balance as at 30 June 2012
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Development
$
-

Total
$

Total
$
171,046
2,059,053
(41,300)
2,188,799

12,618,158
1,303,343
13,921,501

2,188,799
30,944,650
9,131,677
42,265,126

		

(i) Exploration project interests were acquired on acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (Note 19).

		

(ii)	Development is associated with the Fortnum Gold Mine (Note 19). This area is currently being developed
with a view to bring the mine back into production in 2013.

		

(iii)	Expenditure on exploration and evaluation includes:

			

-	An amount of $192,812, being the fair value of incentive options issued to AG Thamm (Note 21),
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model; and

			

-	An amount of $156,000, being the fair value of shares issued to extend options on exploration
licences (Note 18).

		

50

2,188,799
18,326,492
7,828,334
28,343,625

Motor
vehicles
$

(iv)	Expenditure on development relates to evaluating the upgrades required for the plant and obtaining
required mining approvals.
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13.

OTHER NON CURRENT RECEIVABLES

		
Note

Term deposit to secure environmental bond (Note 17)
Other security deposits

14.

2012
$

2011
$

1,594,000

-

60,000
1,654,000

-

7,596,648
7,596,648

6,796,149
6,796,149

(4,118,771)

(2,810,183)

Note
Employee share based payments
Part settlement of acquisition of subsidiary
with shares
Issue of shares
Issue of options

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

		The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity
analysis for financial assets are discussed in note 22.
		

a) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the period
Adjusted for:
Depreciation expense
Impairment losses
Employee share-based payments
Provision for stamp duty
Loss on disposal of assets
Operating loss before changes in working capital and
provisions
Decrease in inventories
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Increase) in prepayments
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities

		

(c)

217,313
23,638
950,000
9,265
(2,918,555)
16,206
(349,637)
(749,625)
662,900
10,899
(3,327,812)

17,366
76,579
1,994,298
(721,940)
(46,623)
82,319
(686,244)

			

(i),(ii)
(iii)
(iv),(v)
(vi),(vii),(viii)

Cash consideration:
Cash
Cash outflow
Fair value of net assets acquired on date of acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (current)
Non-current receivables
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration project interests
Mine development costs
Trade and other payables
Provisions
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2012
$

2011
$

192,812

1,994,298

15,000,000
156,000
108,649
15,457,461

175,000
256,585
2,425,883

(i) Director and Company Secretary Options (approved in general meeting 25 November 2010)

				As approved by shareholders in general meeting, the Company announced the issue of 4,000,000
unlisted director options to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company at any time on or
before 25 November 2013 at an exercise price of $1.00 each. Each option is convertible to one fully
paid ordinary share and the options were issued to the following directors and company secretary:
Number of options
2012
2011
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas Mann
Jean Mathie
			

-

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
4,000,000

(ii) Issue of Incentive Options

				As approved by shareholders in general meeting held on 25 November 2010, the Company issued
2,300,000 unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company at any time on
or 17 May 2014 at an exercise price of $1.00 each. Also, on 14 November 2011, the Company issued
1,000,000 employee incentive options to AG Thamm (Note 21). He was subsequently appointed as a
director on 1 December 2011. There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options and
options issued under the plan were issued for no consideration. Voting rights will be attached to the
ordinary issued shares when the options have been exercised. Each option is convertible to one fully
paid ordinary share and the options were issued to:
Number of options
2012
2011

b) Acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd
Purchase consideration:
Cash
Ordinary shares
Total consideration

52

c) Non cash financing and investing activities

18

20,000,000
15,000,000
35,000,000

-

20,000,000
20,000,000

-

12,617
38,523
1,639,000
1,241,266
2,996,935
18,326,492
12,618,158
(278,991)
(1,594,000)
35,000,000

-

AG Thamm
AL Ahmat
K Drummond
JA Clarke
D Van Putten-Curry
MT Jones
Palm Lane SFT Pty Ltd
			

1,000,000
1,000,000

1,000,000
500,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
2,300,000

(iii) Shares issued to BlueCrest Mercantile Master Fund Ltd

				On 7 March 2012, 42,857,143 shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.34 each as part
consideration for the acquisition of 100% equity in Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd. The balance of the
purchase price was settled in cash (Note 19).
			(iv) Issue of Shares
				On 8 August 2011, 200,000 shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.78 each in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the extension to the Three Rivers Project Option Agreement with Imic
Pty Ltd. $156,000 was recognised within exploration and evaluation assets as a result of the issue of
these shares.
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			(v) Issue of Shares

18.

				On 16 June 2011, 175,000 shares were issued at a deemed price of $1.00 each in accordance with
the terms and conditions of a Tenement Sale Agreement (Fortnum West) between the Company,
Beau Resources Pty Ltd and Glenn GV Money dated 18 March 2011.
			

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

Movement in ordinary shares

(vii) Options issued to Argonaut Investments Pty Ltd

			(viii) Options issued to Imic Pty Ltd
				On 19 July 2010, 2 million options in the capital of RNI exercisable to ordinary fully paid shares were
issued with an exercise price of $0.40 per share, exercisable any time on or before 7 August 2012, in
accordance with an agreement to acquire an option on the Three Rivers Project. $256,585 was
recognised within exploration and evaluation assets as a result of the issue of these options.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2012
$
Trade and other accruals

16.

1,107,138
1,107,138

2011
$

Employee leave benefits
Provision for stamp duty

83,641,457

35,267,878

10,899
950,000
960,899

7 September 2011
7 August 2012
31 May 2013
25 November 2013
17 May 2014
27 March 2015

-

2012
$

2011
Number

2011
$

124,784,308
103,246,077

35,267,878
36,136,127

58,881,320
62,314,654

26,348,663
7,968,879

42,857,143

15,000,000

-

-

200,000
271,087,528

156,000
(2,918,548)
83,641,457

3,413,334
175,000
124,784,308

824,000
(328,350)
454,686
35,267,878

Note

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Exercise
Price

On issue at
1 Jul 11

Issued

Exercised

Expired

On issue at
30 Jun 12

$1.50
$0.40
$0.60
$1.00
$1.00
$0.44

1,500,000
520,000
4,000,000
2,300,000
8,320,000

29,220,665
2,000,000
1.000,000
3,597,621
35,818,286

-

(1,500,000)
(1,500,000)

520,000
29,220,665
6,000,000
3,300,000
3,597,621
42,638,286

		

(i)	The options were issued to Ascidian Prospecting Pty Ltd in terms of an option agreement over
Doolgunna tenements (Note 14c).

		

(ii)	The options were issued as incentive options to employees as approved by shareholders in general
meeting (Note 21).

2012
$

2011
$

		

(iii)	The options were issued to Argonaut Investments Pty Ltd in terms the capital raising mandate set out in
the Company Prospectus dated 22 February 2012.

1,594,000
1,594,000

-

		

Nature and purpose of share-based payments reserve

		A provision has been recognised in respect of environmental rehabilitation on the Fortnum tenements
based on the bond requirements as determined by Department of Mines and Petroleum, secured by a term
deposit (Note 13).
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2012
Number

Movement in options
Options expiring
on or before

2011
$

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Environmental provision recognised on business combination

54

		

165,247
165,247

		Provision has been made for stamp duty on the acquisition of the assets of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd. Refer to
note 19 for more detail.

17.

2011
$

		Terms and conditions: The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.

CURRENT PROVISIONS
2012
$

Note

On issue at 1 July
Issue of shares for cash
Issue of shares as part consideration for
acquisition of Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd
19
Issue of shares to extend options on
exploration licences
14c
Issue of shares on exercise of options
Share issue costs
Share-based payments
21
On issue at 30 June

				On 23 April 2012, 3,597,621 options in the capital of RNI exercisable to ordinary fully paid shares
were issued with an exercise price of $0.4375 per share, exercisable any time on or before 27 March
2015, in accordance with a capital raising mandate. Argonaut paid 1 cent per option and a further
$496,471 was recognised as a share issue cost as a result of the fair value of these options.

15.

2012
$

(vi) Options issued to Ascidian

				On 15 March 2012, 2 million options in the capital of RNI exercisable to ordinary fully paid shares
were issued with an exercise price of $1.00 per share, exercisable any time on or before 25
November 2013, in accordance with an option agreement on the Doolgunna Project. $108,649 was
recognised within exploration and evaluation assets as a result of the issue of these options.
			

ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES

		The share-based payments reserve represents the fair value of equity instruments issued to employees as
compensation and issued to external parties for the receipt of goods and services. This reserve will be
reversed against issued capital when the underlying shares are converted and reversed against retained
earnings when they are allowed to lapse.
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19.

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd, incorporated in Australia
		

2012
%

2011
%

100

-

Fair Value
$

Fair Value
$

20,000,000
15,000,000
35,000,000

-

Fair value of net assets acquired on date of acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (current)
Non-current receivables
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration project interests
Mine development costs
Trade and other payables
Provisions

(i)

		

Recognised share-based payments

		

Details of share based payments recognised during the year are shown in the table below.
2012
$
Employee share based payments
Issue of shares as part consideration for the acquisition of
Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (Note 18)
Issue of options (Note 18)
Issue of shares (Note 14c)

		
12,617
38,523
1,639,000
1,241,266
2,996,935
18,326,492
12,618,158
(278,991)
(1,594,000)
35,000,000

-

		The consideration paid to acquire Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd included the issue of 42,857,143 shares at a
deemed value of $15,000,000 (Note 18). The fair value of the shares was determined based on the market
price around the date of acquisition.

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

		

Liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity

165,247
165,247

84,137,928
2,366,069
(32,593,803)
53,910,194

35,267,878
2,107,564
(28,350,334)
9,025,108

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Total loss

4,243,469

9,025,108

Total comprehensive loss

4,243,469

9,025,108
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15,000,000
108,649
156,000
15,475,461

256,585
454,686
2,705,569

Equity based compensation plans (Long-term incentive bonus)

(i) Issue of Directors’ Options (approved in general meeting 25 November 2010)

Director
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas Mann

Number of options issued
2012
2011
-

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000

(ii) Issue of Options to Company Secretary (approved in general meeting 25 November 2010)

			As approved by shareholders in general meeting held on 25 November 2010, the Company issued
unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company at any time on or before 25
November 2013 at an exercise price of $1.00 each to:
Company Secretary

1,555,691
1,555,691

1,994,298

			As approved by shareholders in general meeting held on 25 November 2010, the Company issued
unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company at any time on or before 25
November 2013 at an exercise price of $1.00 each to the following directors:

2011
$

6,865,831
2,324,524
9,190,355

192,812

		There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options and options issued under the plans were
issued for no consideration. Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the options
have been exercised. Each option is convertible to one fully paid ordinary share.

		
7,728,883
47,736,802
55,465,885

2011
$

		The Board has provides equity-based long-term incentives (LTIs) to promote continuity of employment and
to provide additional incentive to key management personnel to increase shareholder wealth. LTIs are
provided as options over ordinary shares of the Company and are provided to key management personnel
based on their level of seniority and position within the Group. Options may only be issued to directors
subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.

PARENT INFORMATION
2012
$
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The parent entity acquired a 100% interest on 8 March 2012.

Purchase consideration:
Cash
Ordinary shares

20.

21.

Jean Mathie

Number of options issued
2012
2011
-

RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL

1,000,000
1,000,000
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(iii) Issue of Incentive Options

			As approved by shareholders in general meeting held on 25 November 2010, the Company can issue
unlisted options to employees to subscribe for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company at any time on
or before 17 May 2014 at an exercise price of $1.00 each.
			AG Thamm was granted employee incentive options on 14 November 2011 and subsequently appointed
as a director on 1 December 2011.

Weighted average fair value

		

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.046.

		

Fair value basis

		The fair values of the following options issued were estimated at the date of grant using either the BlackScholes or the Binomial option pricing model. The following table sets out the assumptions made in
determining the fair value of the options granted during the period.

Number of options issued
2012
2011

Employees
AG Thamm

1,000,000
1,000,000

AL Ahmat
K Drummond
JA Clarke
D Van Putten-Curry
MT Jones
Palm Lane SFT Pty Ltd
			

		

Expiry date

1,000,000
500,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
2,300,000

Pricing model
Grant date

Summaries of options granted as share based payments:

Outstanding at 1 July
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year *
Expired during the year
Outstanding at 30 June

25 November 2013
Black and Sholes

19 July 2010

Options

Options

17 May 2014

17 May 2014

27 March 2015

Black and Sholes

Black and Sholes

25 November 2010 21 December 2010 14 November 2011

Binomial
23 April 2012

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Expected volatility

85.00%

70.00%

70.00%

70.00%

70.00%

Risk-free
interest rate

4.53%

5.22%

5.25%

3.56%

2.80%

Option exercise
price

$0.40

$1.00

$1.00

$1.00

$0.44

Expected life
(years)

2.00

3.00

3.40

2.51

3.00

$0.310

$0.660

$0.865

$0.620

$0.340

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

22.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

		

Financial risk management

8,320,000
6,597,621
(1,500,000)
13,417,621

$1.05
$0.69
$1.50
$0.82

3,983,334
8,300,000
(3,413,334)
(550,000)
8,320,000

$0.75
$0.86
$0.24
$0.90
$1.05

		This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks, their
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

*The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $0.36.

		

The outstanding balance at 30 June 2012 is represented by:
Options expiring on or before
7 August 2012
25 November 2013
17 May 2014
27 March 2015

		The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, available-for-sale equity
investments, cash and short-term deposits.
		All financial assets measured at fair value are considered to be Level 1 financial assets. That is, they have
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
		

Exercise price

Number

$0.40
$1.00
$1.00
$0.44

520,000
6,000,000
3,300,000
3,597,621

Weighted average remaining contractual life

		The weighted average remaining contractual life, for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2012, is
1.83 years (2011: 2.64 years).
		

7 August 2012
Black and Sholes

Options

2012
No.

		

		

Options

Dividend yield

Share price on
date of issue

			The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and
movements in, share options issued during the year:

Options

Range of exercise price

		The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.40 - $1.00 (2011: $0.40
- $1.50). As the range of exercise prices is wide, refer to the above table for further information in
assessing the number and timing of additional shares that may be issued and the cash that may be
received upon exercise of those options.

Risk exposures and responses

		The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk
management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets
while protecting future financial security.
		The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk
management framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations
of the Group through regular reviews of the risks.
		The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The
Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These
include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates via assessments of market forecasts for interest
rates and monitoring liquidity risk through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.
		The Group does not use any form of derivatives as the Group’s operations and related financial instruments
are not at a level of complexity to require the use of derivatives to hedge its exposures. The Group does not
enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
		Credit risk
		Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s potential concentration of credit risk consists mainly of cash
deposits with banks and other receivables. The Group’s short term cash surpluses are placed with banks
that have investment grade ratings. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to the financial assets is
represented by the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. The Group considers the credit standing of
counterparties when making deposits to manage the credit risk.
		Considering the nature of the Group’s ultimate customers and the relevant terms and conditions entered
into with such customers, the Group believes that the credit risk is immaterial.

58

| RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL | 2012 ANNUAL REPORT

RESOURCE & INVESTMENT NL

| 2012 ANNUAL REPORT | 59

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

		Liquidity risk

		Fair value

		Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

		Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial
statements.

		Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves from funds raised in the market and by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

		The financial assets and liabilities included in the assets and liabilities of the Group approximate net fair
value, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

		The following are the contractual and expected maturities of the Group’s non-derivative, non-cash financial
assets and the Group’s expected maturities of financial liabilities:
Within 6 months
$

6 to 12 months
$

>12 months
$

Total
$

Year ended 30 June 2012
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Available for sale financial assets
Non-current receivables
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Net inflow (outflow)

		Market risk
		Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.
		Currency risk
		Foreign exchange risk for the Group as at 30 June 2012 arises from equity investments the Group holds in
Canadian Dollars (CAD), classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

457,842
457,842
1,107,138
960,899
2,068,037
(1,610,195)

-

15,537
1,654,000
1,669,537
1,594,000
1,594,000
75,537

457,842
15,537
1,654,000
2,127,379

		The Group did not enter into any derivative financial instruments to hedge against currency risk on any such
transactions. The presentation currency of the Group is Australian Dollars.

1,107,138
2,554,899
3,662,037
(1,534,658)

		The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, primarily on its cash and cash equivalents. Cash flow interest
rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market
interest rates on interest-bearing financial instruments. The Group does not use derivatives to mitigate
these exposures.

		

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is not considered to be material.

		

Cash flow interest rate risk

		

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Year ended 30 June 2011
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Available for sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Net inflow (outflow)
		

69,682
69,682

-

39,175
39,175

69,682
39,175
108,857

165,247
165,247
(95,565)

-

39,175

165,247
165,247
(59,390)

Capital risk management

		The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so as to maintain a strong capital base sufficient to maintain future exploration, evaluation and
development of its mineral projects. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Due to the Group being
principally involved in mineral exploration, the Group does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the
primary source of funding being equity raisings.
		The Company also encourages employees and directors to be shareholders through its various equitybased long-term incentives as detailed in note 21.

		

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Less
More
than 1
1 to 5
than 5
Year
Years
Years
A$
A$
A$

Average
Interest
Rate
%

Variable
Interest
Rate
A$

At 30 June 2012
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3.25%

7,596,648

-

-

-

7,596,648

Financial assets
At 30 June 2011
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

1.00%

6,796,149

-

-

-

6,796,149

Total
A$

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

		A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have no material impact on the
income statement. There would be no effect on the equity reserves other than those directly related to
income statement.
		The sensitivity analysis has been prepared to demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant through the impact on floating rate interest rates.

		As at 30 June 2012, the Group had a net working capital surplus of $7,969,977 (2011: $6,700,584),
represented significantly by cash and cash equivalent assets of $7,596,648 (2011: $6,796,149). The Group’s
net asset position was $54,081,446 (2011: $9,025,108).
		There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. Risk management
policies and procedures are established with regular monitoring and reporting.
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The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Equity price risk

		Equity price risk is the risk that the value of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether caused
by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the
market.

Options over equity instruments

		The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in Resource and
Investment NL held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their
related parties, is as follows:

		Investments are managed on an individual basis and material buy and sell decisions are approved by the
Board of Directors. The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns.
		The Group’s investments are solely in equity instruments. These instruments are classified as availablefor-sale and carried at fair value, where a measure of fair value exists, with fair value changes recognised
directly in equity, except for impairment losses. Where these investments are derecognised or impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.

23.

RELATED PARTIES

		

Key management personnel compensation

Executive

		

The key management personnel compensation comprised:

Albert G Thamm

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

2011
$

381,523
96,311
192,812
670,646

170,846
69,154
763,995
1,003,995

Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures

		Information regarding individual directors’ compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as
required by Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the
directors’ report.
		Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the Group
since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’
interests at year-end.
		

		The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and
their related entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

Key management personnel
and their related parties

62

Transaction

Mr M Kennedy and
Mr John Hutton –
The Bagot Road Property
Partnership

Office rental expenses

Mr M Kennedy and
Mr John Hutton –
The Bagot Road Group

Payroll management
fees
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Transactions value
year ended 30 June
2012
2011
$
$

Balance outstanding
as at 30 June
2012
2011
$
$

77,738

74,800

-

6,800

22,380
100,118

74,800

4,650
4,650

6,800

Net other
changes

Balance at
30 Jun 12

Vested
during
the year

Vested and
exercisable

1,750,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

-

(750,000)
-

228,571
332,893
-

1,228,571
1,332,893
1,000,000

228,571
332,893
-

1,228,571
1,332,893
1,000,000

-

1,000,000

-

-

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Options
expired

Net other
changes

Balance at
30 Jun 11

Vested
during
the year

Vested and
exercisable

-

-

1,750,000
1,000,000

1,000,000
1,000,000

1,750,000
1,000,000

-

-

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Non-executive
directors
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton

750,000
-

Thomas J Mann

-

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

		

No options held by key management personnel are vested but not exercisable as at 30 June 2011 or 2012.

		

Movement in shares

		The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Resource and Investment
NL held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties,
is as follows:

Key management personnel and director transactions

		A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in
them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. A
number of these entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries in the reporting period. The
terms and conditions of the transactions with management persons and their related parties were no more
favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar
transactions to non-director related entities on an arm’s length basis.

Options
expired

Balance at
Granted as
1 Jul 10
remuneration

		Other than the directors, no other person is concerned in, or takes part in, the management of the Group or
has the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.
		

Granted as
remuneration

Non-executive
directors
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas J Mann

2012
$

Balance at
1 Jul 11

Balance at
1 Jul 11

Purchased

Exercise of
options

Net change
other

Sales

Balance at 30
Jun 12

16,770,000
6,972,460
1,000,000

1,542,857
2,055,616
-

-

-

-

17,912,857
9,028,076
1,000,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at
1 Jul 10

Purchased

Exercise of
options

Net change
other

Sales

Balance at 30
Jun 11

17,970,000
2,236,230
500,000

4,736,230
500,000

-

-

(1,200,000)
-

16,770,000
6,972,460
1,000,000

Non-executive
directors
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas J Mann
Executive
Albert G Thamm

Non-executive
directors
Miles A Kennedy
John R Hutton
Thomas J Mann

		No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation in
2011 or 2012.
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24.

COMMITMENTS

1. In the opinion of the directors of Resource and Investment NL

		

Exploration expenditure commitments in respect of it tenement holdings

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

2012
$
Payable
Not later than 12 months
Between 12 months and 5 years

25.

2,365,860
9,463,740
11,829,300

2011
$
-

SEGMENT REPORTING

		The Group operations are entirely associated with exploration and related development activities in Western
Australia.

26.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

		

Subsequent to the reporting date the Company released the following ASX announcements:

		

64

(a)	the consolidated financial statements and notes, set out on pages 35 to 64 and the Remuneration report in
the Directors’ report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
		

(i)	giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance, for
the financial year ended on that date; and

		

(ii)	complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b)	the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note
1(a);
(c)	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.
2.	The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

•

 he intersection of high grade gold mineralisation beneath the Eldorado open pit ramp, on 6 August
T
2012;

•

The expiry of 520,000 unlisted options on 8 August 2012;

•

 he reaching of agreement to earn a 51% interest in the Horseshoe Lights East Joint Venture, on 20
T
August 2012;

•

The appointment of Mrs Debbie Fullarton as Chief Financial Officer, on 31 August 2012;

•

 he issue of 572,458 fully paid shares to holders of the Horseshoe Lights East Project in terms of the
T
announcement on 20 August 2012;

MILES KENNEDY
Director

•

An exploration update on 25 September 2012; and

Dated at Subiaco this 28th day of September 2012

•

 he signing of an option agreement with Montezuma Mining Company Limited on 26 September 2012 to
T
acquire the Peak Hill Gold Project in order to unlock stranded resources in the area surrounding the
Grosvenor Gold Project.

Except for the events noted above, no material events have occurred subsequent to the reporting date.
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